
CITY COUNCIL MEETING NOTICE AND AGENDA 

Notice is hereby given that the City Council of Caribou will hold a City Council Meeting on 

Monday, June 14, 2021, in the Council Chambers located at 25 High Street, 6:00 pm. 

THE MEETING WILL BE BROADCAST ON CABLE CHANNEL 1301 AND THE CITY’S YOUTUBE 
CHANNEL.  
 
1. Roll Call 

2. Invocation/Inspirational Thought 

3. Pledge of Allegiance 

4. Public Forum (PUBLIC COMMENTS SUBMITTED TO THE CITY CLERK PRIOR TO 4:30PM ON THE MEETING DATE WILL 

BE SHARED WITH THE COUNCIL DURING PUBLIC FORUM. Email dbrissette@cariboumaine.org) 

5. Minutes 

a. City Council Meeting held May 17, 2021 

b. City Council Meeting held May 25, 2021 

c. City Council Personnel Meeting held June 1, 2021 

d. City Council Personnel Meeting held June 8, 2021 

6. Public Hearings and Possible Action Items 

a. Ord. No. 04, 2021 Series, Regarding Tax Acquired Property Disposal Policy (continued) 

b. Ord. No. 05, 2021 Series, Charter Amendment - Councilor Qualifications (continued) 

c. Ord. No. 06, 2021 Series, Charter Amendment - Councilor Meeting Attendance (continued) 

d. Ord. No. 07, 2021 Series, Charter Amendment - City Public Notice Requirements (continued) 

e. Ord. No. 08, 2021 Series, Charter Amendment, City Real Estate Transaction Requirements 
f. Ord. No. 09, 2021 Series, Rubbish Hauler Licensing 
g. Ord. No. 10, 2021 Series, Administrative Amendments to Title 13 
h. Ord. No. 11, 2021 Series, Amending Campground Standards 
i. Ord. No. 12, 2021 Series, Rezoning 1.3 acres from I-2 to C-2 at 14 Evergreen Pkwy 

7. Reports by Staff and Committees 

a. Financial report for May 2021 

b. Manager’s report  

8. New Business, Ordinances and Resolutions  

a. Resolution 06-01-2021, Establishing the 2021 Property Tax Rate and Related Items 

b. Resolution 06-02-2021, Continuation of MMA Workers’ Compensation Safety Incentive Program 

c. Purchase and Sale agreement Regarding 142 Lower Lyndon Street 

d. Approving Modification of Summer Meeting Schedule 

e. Abatement of taxes at 11 Lower Lindon Street 

f. Introduction of Ord. No. 13, 2021 Series, Charter Amendment, Filling Council Vacancies 

g. Introduction of Ord. No. 14, 2021 Series, Charter Amendment, Employee Political Activities 

9. Old Business 
a. Discussion and Possible Action Regarding Collective Bargaining Agreement with Local 220, 

Council No. 93, American Federation of State County and Municipal Employees, AFL-CIO 
b. Discussion and Possible Action Regarding Collective Bargaining Agreement with Police Sergeants 

10. Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members 

11. Executive Session(s) (May be called to discuss matters identified under Maine Revised Statutes,  

Title 1, §405.6) 

a. Personnel items under §405.6.A. 

b. Real Estate and Economic Development under §405.6.C. 

c. Collective bargaining agreements under §405.6.D. 

12. Next Regular Meetings: July 26 

13. Adjournment 

Pg 3-8 

Pg 9-11 

Pg 12 

Pg 13 
Pg 14-15  

Pg 14 

Pg 16-20 

Pg 21-22 

Pg 23-24 

Pg 25-27 

Pg 28-29 

Pg 14 

Pg 30-34 
Pg 35-37 
 

Pg 38-63 

Pg 64-65 

 

Pg 66-69 

Pg 70 

Pg 71-80 

Pg 81 

Pg 82-83
Pg 84-85 

Pg 86-87 

1

mailto:dbrissette@cariboumaine.org


If you are planning to attend this Public Meeting and due to a disability, need assistance in understanding or 

participating in the meeting, please notify the City ten or more hours in advance and we will, within reason, 

provide what assistance may be required. 

Certificate of Mailing/Posting 

The undersigned duly appointed City official for the municipality of Caribou City hereby certifies that a copy of 

the foregoing Notice and Agenda was posted at City Offices and on-line in accordance with City noticing 

procedures.      

 

BY: ____________________________________ Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 

2



May 17, 2021 
21-14 Pg. 1 

Council Agenda Item #1:  Roll Call 

The Caribou City Council held a City Council Meeting on Monday, May 17, 2021, at 6:00 p.m. in the 

Council Chambers with the following members present; Councilors Ayer, Boma, Goughan, Morrell, 

Theriault, Willey and Mayor Smith 

Dennis L Marker City Manager and Danielle Brissette City Clerk were present.  

Staff members and parties with interest in agenda items connected through electronic Zoom Meeting.   

The meeting was broadcasted via Spectrum and Caribou’s YouTube Channel.  

Council Agenda Item #2:  Invocation / Inspirational Thought 

Tom Hale of the Caribou Assembly of God Church offered the invocation.  

Council Agenda Item #3:  Pledge of Allegiance 

Mayor Smith led the Pledge of Allegiance.  

Council Agenda Item #4:  Public Forum 

Gail Hagelstein, Caribou Resident and Co-President of Nylander Board of Trustees came to speak 

regarding the boards concerns of the Nylander operating under the umbrella of the Library and not being 

able to be part of the discussion with the changes that are being made.  She stated that the board members 

feel they should be included in the discussions to the changes because they have voluntarily and 

successfully operated the department of the City for many years.  The Nylander board has an upcoming 

meeting on Thursday and will compile information for the next council agenda for discussion.  

Council Agenda Item #5:  Minutes 

a.  May 3, 2021, Regular Council Meeting 

Motion made by Councilor Theriault, seconded by Councilor Willey to accept the May 3, 2021, minutes 

as presented.   

Roll Call Vote: T. Ayer - Yes, C. Boma - Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell - Yes, J. Theriault - Yes, 

L. Willey - Yes, J. Smith - Yes (So voted) 

b.  May 13, 2021, Special Personnel Meeting 

Motion made by Councilor Theriault, seconded by Councilor Boma to approve the May 13, 2021, 

meeting minutes as presented.  

Roll Call Vote: T. Ayer - Yes, C. Boma - Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell - Yes, J. Theriault - Yes, 

L. Willey - Yes, J. Smith - Yes (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #6:  Bid Openings, Awards, and Appointments 

a.  Approval of Deputy Clerk Appointment – Cherie Garman 

City Clerk, Danielle Brissette presented Cherie Garman to be appointed as Deputy Clerk.   

Motion made by Councilor Ayer, seconded by Councilor Willey to appoint Cherie Garman as the Deputy 

Clerk.  

3



May 17, 2021 
21-14 Pg. 2 

Roll Call Vote: T. Ayer - Yes, C. Boma - Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell - Yes, J. Theriault - Yes, 

L. Willey - Yes, J. Smith - Yes (So voted) 

b.  Appointment of Election Wardens for June 8, 2021 

In preparation for the upcoming General Election the Clerk’s office is requesting the Council approval for 

the following:   

 1.  Approval of an 8:00 a.m. opening Time for the November 3, 2020 Election.   

 2.  Appointment of Danielle Brissette as Election Warden, Cherie Garman as Deputy Election 

Wardens for the June 8, 2021 Election. 

Motion made by Councilor Ayer, seconded by Councilor Willey to approve the start time of 8:00a.m. and 

to appoint Danielle Brissette as Election warden and Cherie Garman as Deputy Election for the June 8, 

2021 Election.  

Roll Call Vote: T. Ayer - Yes, C. Boma - Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell - Yes, J. Theriault - Yes, 

L. Willey - Yes, J. Smith - Yes (So voted) 

Councilor Ayer congratulated Gary Marquis for earning the 2020 Governor’s Conference on Tourism 

Leadership * Growth Award  

Mayor Smith appointed Councilors Goughan, Ayer, and Morrell to an ambulance committee with Morrell 

acting as committee chair.   

Council Agenda Item #7:  Public Hearings and Possible Action Items 

a.  2021 CDBG Application for Gary’s Yamaha Store at 323 Sweden Street for $180,000 

Manager Marker explained that Gary’s Yamaha is asking for a $120K grant from the State CDBG 

program to help opening their new store at 323 Sweden Street.  Gary’s will have to provide $60,000 of a 

match for the funds so the total project will be $180,000.  The CDBG process requires the Council to 

approve the final application before it can be submitted.  The city can only submit one CDBG application 

each year under this economic development program and the applicants must be vetted previously by the 

State for final application consideration.  Gary’s was the only application received in a timely fashion.   

Public Hearing Opened:  6:20 p.m. 

Councilor Morrell Thanked Gary’s for continuing their business in Caribou and the improvements that 

they have made to the new location.   

Councilor Theriault stated that she has gotten to see the building and it is beautiful and that they are doing 

a great job.   

Public Hearing Closed 6:21 p.m. 

Motion made by Councilor Ayer, seconded by Councilor Morrell to accept the CDBG application to send 

off to the state for Gary’s Yamaha store located at 323 Sweden Street in the amount of $180,000,   

Roll Call Vote: T. Ayer - Yes, C. Boma - Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell - Yes, J. Theriault - Yes, 

L. Willey - Yes, J. Smith - Yes (So voted) 

b.  Ordinance No. 03, 2021 Series, Authorizing Lease of Ogren Dump Property 

4



May 17, 2021 
21-14 Pg. 3 

Public Hearing Opened:  6:22 p.m.  

Mayor Smith read a letter from Joana Lanterman in opposition of Solar Farms because of chemicals that 

can be leaked into the ground and because the clean up can be very costly.   

Close Public Hearing:  6:30 p.m. 

Motion made by Councilor Theriault, seconded by Councilor Goughan to authorize the lease of the Ogren 

Dump Property.  

Roll Call Vote: T. Ayer - Yes, C. Boma - Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell - Yes, J. Theriault - Yes, 

L. Willey - Yes, J. Smith - Yes (So voted) 

c.  Ordinance No. 04, 2021 Series, Regarding Tax Acquired Property Disposal Policy 

Open Public Hearing:  6:34 p.m. 

Manager Marker explained Ordinance No. 04, 2021 Series and why it is in place.  Currently the document 

is a policy, and this would make it part of the charter.   

Councilor Ayer expressed concern on whether the ordinance would be followed or not in the future.  

Closed Public Hearing: 6:45 p.m.  

No action taken. 

Item was moved to the next agenda to continue discussion.  

d.  Ordinance No. 06, 2021, Charter Amendment – Councilor Meeting Attendance 

Manager Marker explained that the ordinance being introduced is to eliminate some gray area and define 

the differences between regular, workshop, committee, council, and other meetings.  Attendance would be 

based on a percentage rather then consecutive absence disqualification.   

Recessed Public Hearing until next council meeting: 6:59 p.m.  

e.  Ordinance No. 06, 2021, Charter Amendment – City Public Notice Requirements 

Open Public Hearing:  6:56 p.m.  

The new ordinance is being proposed to update the public posting requirements and make it so that social 

media and online sources can be used, not necessarily having to publish all in the newspaper unless 

required by state law.   

Recessed Public Hearing until next council meeting: 7:03 p.m. 

Council Agenda Item #8:  Reports by Officials and Staff 

a. Financials for April 2021 

Finance Director, Carl Grant reviewed the financials for April 2021. 

Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Councilor Theriault to accept the April 2021 Financial 

Report as presented.  

Roll Call Vote: T. Ayer - No, C. Boma - Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell - Yes, J. Theriault - Yes, 

L. Willey - Yes, J. Smith - Yes (So voted) 

5



May 17, 2021 
21-14 Pg. 4 

b.  Manager’s Report 

Manager Marker reviewed the City Managers report dated May 14, 2021. 

Council Agenda Item #9:  New Business, Ordinance and Resolutions 

a.  Discussion with MDOT Regarding Removal of Otter Brook Bridge 

Mayor Smith read an email from Kathryn Olmstead in opposition of the removal of the Otter Brook 

Bridge.  

Mr. Fred Michaud and Mr. Ben Foster from Maine DOT joined the meeting via Zoom and explained that 

low volume bridges (bridges that have roughly 260 vehicles a day or less) around the state are showing 

deficiencies and most were built in the 1930’s.   

Mr. Foster explained that the bridges wings that retain fill and support the roadway are in serious 

condition, the bridge has a possible five-year remaining life. The estimate cost for the bridge repair is 1.25 

million dollars.  

b.  Discussion and Possible Action Regarding RSU June 8, 2021, Election Warrant 

Manager marker explained the process of countersigning the warrant and that it was state law that the 

council sign.   

Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Councilor Goughan to approve the signing of the RSU 

#39 June 8, 2021, Election Warrant.  

Roll Call Vote: T. Ayer - Yes, C. Boma - Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell - No, J. Theriault - Yes, 

L. Willey - Yes, J. Smith - Yes (So voted) 

c.  Introduction of Ordinance No. 8, 2021 Series, Charter Amendment - City Real Estate Transaction 

Requirements 

Councilor Ayer introduced Ordinance No. 8, 2021 Series, Charter Amendment - City Real Estate 

Transaction Requirements. 

d.  Introduction of Ordinance No. 9, 2021 Series, Rubbish Hauler Licensing 

Councilor Ayer introduced Ordinance No. 9, 2021 Series, Rubbish Hauler Licensing 

e.  Introduction of Ordinance No. 10, 2021 Series, Administrative Amendments to Title 13 

Council Ayer introduced Ordinance No. 10, 2021 Series, Administrative Amendments to Title 13 

Council Agenda Item #10:  Old Business 

a.  Discussion and Possible Action Regarding TIF Credit Enhancement Agreement with Gary Gagnon 

Manager Marker explained the TIF Credit Enhancement Agreement with Gary Gagnon is on the agenda 

for further discussion by the council.  It is a matter of preference of the council on what they would like to 

do on if they want additional information.   

If the evaluation goes from 60,000 dollars last year to 1.5 million dollars this year, the tax benefits in the 

agreement are based upon the difference of old to new taxes, not the entire value.  

6



May 17, 2021 
21-14 Pg. 5 

Motion made by Councilor Theriault, seconded by Councilor Boma to accept the Credit Enhancement 

Agreement with Gagnon’s Rental Properties, LLC as written. 

Roll Call Vote: T. Ayer - Yes, C. Boma - Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell - Yes, J. Theriault - Yes, 

L. Willey - Yes, J. Smith - Yes (So voted) 

b.  Discussion and Possible Action Regarding Collective Bargaining Agreement with Caribou 

Professional Firefighters, IAFF Local 5191 

Manager Marker suggested that if there were any discussion regarding the Union Contract should be held 

in executive session.   

Agenda item was moved to be discussed in executive session.  

c.  Discussion and Possible Action Regarding Collective Bargaining Agreement with Local 220, Council 

No. 93, American Federation of State County and Municipal Employees, AFL-CIO 

Agenda item was moved to be discussed in executive session.  

Council Agenda Item #11:  Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members 

Councilor Boma stated the committee met with the architecture firm and they brought the safety building 

committee up to speed on their thoughts about some of the designs that they had looked at a few years 

ago.  They discussed sites to be looked at and an analysis that is going to be done on them.  Councilor 

Boma also commended the Wellness Center for the job well done at the Canoe Race and hopes to see it 

again in the future.   

Council Agenda Item #12:  Executive Session(s) (May be called to discuss matters identified under 

Maine Revised Statutes, Title 1, §405.6) 

a.  Real Estate and Economic Development under §405.6.C 

Motion made by Councilor Ayer, seconded by Councilor Theriault to enter executive session at 8:29p.m. 

to discuss Real Estate and Economic Development under §405.6.C. 

Council exited executive session at 8:45 p.m. 

No action was taken. 

Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Councilor Ayer to enter executive session to discuss 

Collective Bargaining Agreements 

Roll Call Vote: T. Ayer - Yes, C. Boma - Yes, R.M. Goughan – No, D. Morrell - No, J. Theriault - Yes, 

L. Willey - Yes, J. Smith - Yes (So voted) 

Council exited executive session at 9:03 p.m.  

Mayor Smith noted that discussion about collective bargaining agreements would be moved to the next 

agenda, no other action was taken.  

Motion made by Councilor Ayer, seconded by Councilor Boma to enter executive session to discuss 

personnel matters.  

Council exited executive session at 9:58 p.m. 

7



May 17, 2021 
21-14 Pg. 6 

No action taken.   

Council Agenda Item#13:  June 14 & June 28 

Council Agenda Item #14:  Adjournment 

Motion made by Councilor Ayer, seconded by Councilor Boma to adjourn the meeting at 9:58 p.m. 

Roll Call Vote: T. Ayer - Yes, C. Boma - Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Theriault – Yes, 

L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes (So voted) 

 

Danielle Brissette, Secretary 

 

8



May 25, 2021 
21-16 Pg. 1 

Council Agenda Item #1:  Roll Call 

The Caribou City Council held a City Council Meeting on Tuesday, May 25, 2021, at 6:00 p.m. in the 

Council Chambers with the following members present; Councilors Ayer, Boma, Goughan, Morrell, 

Theriault, Willey and Mayor Smith.  

Dennis L Marker, City Manager and Danielle Brissette, City Clerk were present.  

Gary Marquis was present at the meeting. 

Council Agenda Item #2:  Invocation / Inspirational Thought 

There was no invocation offered for the meeting.  

Council Agenda Item #3:  Pledge of Allegiance 

Mayor Smith led the Pledge of Allegiance.   

Council Agenda Item #4:  Public Forum 

There were no comments offered.  

Council Agenda Item #5:  New Business, Ordinances and Resolutions 

a.  Introduction of Ordinance No. 11, 2021 Series, Amending Campground Standards 

Councilor Ayer introduced Ordinance No. 11, 2021 Series, Amending Campground Standards. 

b.  Introduction of Ordinance No. 12, 2021 Series, Rezoning 1.3 acres from I-2 to C-2 at 14 Evergreen 

Pkwy 

Councilor Ayer introduced Ordinance No. 12, 2021 Series, Rezoning 1.3 acres from I-2 to C-2 at 14 

Evergreen Pkwy 

c.  Approval of a Temporary Employment Contract for an Interim City Manager  

Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Councilor Theriault to accept Penny Thompson as the 

temporary Interim City Manager and approve the temporary employment contract.  

Roll Call Vote: T. Ayer - Yes, C. Boma - Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell - Yes, J. Theriault - Yes, 

L. Willey - Yes, J. Smith - Yes (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #6:  Old Business 

a.  Discussion and Possible Action Regarding Collective Bargaining Agreement with Caribou 

Professional Firefighters, IAFF Local 5191 

Discussion moved to executive session.  

b.  Discussion and Possible Action Regarding Collective Bargaining Agreement with Local 220, Council 

No. 93, American Federation of State County and Municipal Employees, AFL-CIO 

Discussion moved to executive session.   

Council Agenda Item #7:  Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members 

9



May 25, 2021 
21-16 Pg. 2 

Councilor Morrell stated the Building Committee met and discussed issues with siding at the wellness 

center.   

Gary Marquis explained the issues with the Hardy board siding that has been installed on the building in 

2007 and that to try to repair and paint the building and siding would be a cost of close to $60,000. Mr. 

Marquis stated that he has priced metal siding with some local vendors:   

Millers – Fort Fairfield:   $14,358.00 

Haney’s – Caribou:  $15,820.27 

SW Collins – Caribou:  $17,501.50 

Mr. Marquis noted that the product from Millers would have a cut edge and could be more susceptible to 

weather damage compared to the manufactured products bid by Haney’s and SW Collins. Motion made 

by Councilor Theriault, seconded by Councilor Boma to approve the purchase of the siding from Haney’s 

in Caribou in the amount of $15,820.27. 

Roll Call Vote: T. Ayer - Yes, C. Boma - Yes, R.M. Goughan – No, D. Morrell - Yes, J. Theriault - Yes, 

L. Willey - Yes, J. Smith - Yes (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item#8:  Executive Session(s) (May be called to discuss matters identified under Maine 

Revised Statutes, Title 1, §405.6.) 

a.  Personnel items under §405.6.A 

Motion made by Councilor Ayer, seconded by Councilor Willey to enter executive session at 6:37p.m. to 

discuss Personnel items under §405.6.A.  

Roll Call Vote: T. Ayer - No, C. Boma - Yes, R.M. Goughan – No, D. Morrell - Yes, J. Theriault - Yes, 

L. Willey - Yes, J. Smith - Yes (So voted) 

Council exited executive session at 7:08 p.m. 

Manager Marker was directed to communicate with Maine Municipal Association consultant about 

Manager Candidates to be interviewed on June 1 and June 8. 

Motion made by Councilor Morrell, seconded by Councilor Willey to enter executive session to discuss 

labor agreements with the Fire and Public Works Departments. 

Roll Call Vote: T. Ayer - Yes, C. Boma - Yes, R.M. Goughan – No, D. Morrell - No, J. Theriault - Yes, 

L. Willey - Yes, J. Smith - Yes (So voted) 

Council exited executive session at 7:50 p.m. 

Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Councilor Ayer to approve the collective bargaining 

agreement with Fire and EMS department as discussed in executive session.   

Roll Call Vote: T. Ayer - Yes, C. Boma - Yes, R.M. Goughan – No, D. Morrell - No, J. Theriault - Yes, 

L. Willey - Yes, J. Smith - Yes (So voted) 

Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Councilor Boma to table action on the public Works 

collective bargaining agreement until the next meeting.   

10



May 25, 2021 
21-16 Pg. 3 

Roll Call Vote: T. Ayer - Yes, C. Boma - Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell - Yes, J. Theriault - Yes, 

L. Willey - Yes, J. Smith - Yes (So voted) 

Motion made by Councilor Ayer, seconded by Councilor Theriault to enter executive session to discuss 

an economic development matter.  

Roll Call Vote: T. Ayer - Yes, C. Boma - Yes, R.M. Goughan – No, D. Morrell - No, J. Theriault - Yes, 

L. Willey - Yes, J. Smith - Yes (So voted) 

Council exited executive session at 7:55 p.m.  

No action was taken.  

Mayor Smith reminded the Council of the upcoming June 1 and June 8 special meetings to conduct 

interviews of Manager Candidates.   

Council Agenda Item #9:  Next Regular Meetings 

June 14, June 28 

Council Agenda Item #10:  Adjournment  

Motion made by Councilor Ayer, seconded by Councilor Boma to adjourn the meeting at 7:57 p.m. 

Roll Call Vote: T. Ayer - Yes, C. Boma - Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, D. Morrell – Yes, J. Theriault – Yes, 

L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes (So voted) 

Danielle Brissette, Secretary 

 

 

 

 

 

11



June 1, 2021 
21-17 Pg. 1 

The Caribou City Council held a Personnel Meeting on Tuesday, June 1, 2021, at 4:00 p.m. in the Council 

Chambers with the following members present: Councilors Ayer, Boma, Goughan, Morrell, Theriault, 

Willey and Mayor Smith.   

Dennis L Marker, City Manager was present. Ms. Carolyn Ball, a Maine Municipal Association 

consultant, attended via Zoom. 

Mayor Smith called the meeting to order at 4:05 PM. 

The Council entered executive session under M.R.S.A §405.6.A to conduct city manager candidate 

interviews with one individual. The interview was conducted via Zoom.  

Council exited executive session at 4:35 PM. No action was taken. 

Councilor Ayer moved to adjourn the meeting. Seconded by Councilor Boma. Vote was unanimous in 

favor.  

Meeting adjourned at 4:36 PM.  

Dennis Marker, City Manager 

12



June 8 2021 
21-18 Pg. 1 

 

The Caribou City Council held a Personnel Meeting on Tuesday, June 8, 2021, at 4:00 p.m. in the Council 

Chambers with the following members present: Councilors Ayer, Boma, Goughan, Morrell, Theriault, 

Willey and Mayor Smith.   

Dennis L Marker, City Manager was present. Ms. Carolyn Ball, a Maine Municipal Association 

consultant, attended via Zoom. 

Mayor Smith called the meeting to order at 4:05 PM. 

The Council entered executive session under M.R.S.A §405.6.A to conduct city manager candidate 

interviews with three individuals. The interviews were conducted via Zoom.  

Council exited executive session at 6:30 PM. Mayor Smith indicated that the Council would discuss 

candidates further at the next regular meeting on June 14. 

Councilor Ayer moved to adjourn the meeting. Seconded by Councilor Theriault. Vote was unanimous in 

favor.  

Meeting adjourned at 6:31 PM.  

Dennis Marker, City Manager 

13



 

 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  

CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  

 
To:   Mayor and Council Members 

From:   Dennis L. Marker, City Manager 

Date:   06/11/2021 

Re:   Public Hearings on June 14 Agenda 

 

Public Hearings are needed for Council agenda Items 6a – 7i. 

Agenda Item 6a. Ordinance 04, Tax Acquired Property Disposal Policy  

This ordinance was introduced during the April 20, 2021 Council Meeting. The public hearing for this 

ordinance was continued from the May 17 Council meeting. Ordinance is not included in this packet, but 

copies of the ordinance have been available on-line as part of April 20 Council packet and in the 

Clerk’s office. This ordinance formalizes the city’s procedures for disposing of tax acquired properties. 

Previous actions were handled under Council approved policy resolutions, but the city charter requires 

actions to be in accordance with an adopted ordinance. Resolutions provide guidance and direction to 

staff but an Ordinance is binding as law upon the staff and elected officials. The language was provided 

to the Council prior to this meeting packet. It is proposed that the Council approve Ordinance No. 4, 

2021 Series.  

Agenda Item 6b. Ordinance 05, Charter Amendment - Councilor Qualifications 

This ordinance was introduced during the April 20, 2021 Council Meeting.  The public hearing for this 

ordinance was continued from the May 17 Council meeting. Full ordinance is in this packet. The effect of 

this ordinance is to make clear that all City Councilors and Councilors elect are required to pay all taxes 

owed to the city prior to taking office and by December 31 of each year while in office. Failure to pay 

their taxes in timely manner is ground for forfeiture of office. The ordinance further outlines that any 

person whose wages are based on the Council approved expense budget, cannot be a City Councilor. 

Additional legal background for this amendment is provided in the attached memo titled “Charter 

Amendment, Tax Delinquency of Council Candidates” dated May 21, 2021. 

Agenda Item 6c. Ordinance 06, Charter Amendment - Councilor Meeting Attendance 

This ordinance was introduced during the April 20, 2021 Council Meeting. Full ordinance is in this 

packet. The public hearing for this ordinance was continued from the May 17 Council meeting. This 

ordinance seeks to clarify the forfeiture requirements pertaining to City Council meeting attendance.  

Agenda Item 6d. Ordinance 07, Charter Amendment - City Public Notice Requirements 

This ordinance was introduced during the April 20, 2021 Council Meeting. The public hearing for this 

ordinance was continued from the May 17 Council meeting. Full ordinance is in this packet. This 

ordinance enables the city to use internet-based platforms to post public notices in addition to notices 

sent to local newspapers.  

Agenda Item 6e. Ordinance 08, Charter Amendment – City Real Estate Transaction Requirements 

14



This ordinance was introduced during the May 17, 2021 Council Meeting. Full ordinance is in this packet. 

This ordinance enables the city to enter real estate transactions (sales, leases, etc.) without requiring an 

ordinance to be passed for each transaction. The change effectively provides that city real estate 

contracts are no longer to be treated as binding public law. Public meetings will still be required when 

any real estate transactions are considered.  

Agenda Item 6f. Ordinance 09 Rubbish Hauler Licensing 

This ordinance was introduced during the May 17, 2021 Council Meeting. Full-Ordinance is in this 

packet. This ordinance enables the city administration to renew rubbish hauler permits rather than 

having the applications presented to the City Council. It is proposed the Council approve Ordinance No. 

09, 2021 Series.  

Agenda Item 6g. Ordinance 10 Administrative Amendments to Title 13 

This ordinance was introduced during the May 17, 2021 Council Meeting. The full amendment is in the 

May 17 packet on-line and has been available in the Clerk’s office for review. This ordinance provides a 

rewrite of administrative elements in the City’s Land Use and Development Code, Title 13. Clarifications 

are made to Planning Board and staff rights and responsibilities as well as terms and definitions used 

within Title 13. The Planning Board worked on this amendment for the past two years with many public 

meetings and hearings and has recommended the City Council approve the ordinance.  

Agenda Item 6h. Ordinance 11, Amending Campground Standards 

This ordinance was introduced during the May 25, 2021 Council Meeting. Full-Ordinance is in this 

packet. This ordinance modifies current campground development standards to allow such in the R-2 

zone and clarifies some construction requirements for campground developments. The Planning Board 

worked on this amendment and has recommended the City Council approve the ordinance.  

Agenda Item 6i. Ordinance 12, Rezoning 1.3 acre from I-2 to C-2 at 14 Evergreen Pkwy 

This ordinance was introduced during the May 25, 2021 Council Meeting. Full-Ordinance is in this 

packet.This ordinance rezones the old Warehouse restaurant property from industrial (I-2) to 

commercial (C-2). The commercial zoning enables more potential uses to be on the property and relaxes 

some site development requirements. The Planning Board recommended the City Council approve the 

rezone request.  

 

The above charter amendment ordinances must be approved by the Council subject to ratification by 

the voting public in a general election. The Council will need to act on the Charter amendments 

before September 1 to have them on the November ballot as intended.  

 

  

15



Ordinance Introduced by Councilor ______________________ 
on ________________, 2021 

 

Ordinance No. 05, 2021 Series 

City of Caribou 

County of Aroostook 

State of Maine 

 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CITY CHARTER BY CLARIFYING CITY 

COUNCILOR ELIGIBILITY REQUIREMENTS  

Short Title: Councilor Eligibility Amendments 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Caribou is a Local Unit of Government under the State of Maine and is 

granted home rule authority under Maine Revised Statutes, Title 30-A, §3001; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City’s Charter outlines the city’s form of government and means by which a 

City Councilor is eligible to hold, retain or forfeit their elected position; and 

 

WHEREAS, owing to disputes about interpretation of the Councilor eligibility standards, the 

City Council believes it is prudent to clarify the Councilor eligibility standards; and  

  

WHEREAS, any ordinance seeking to amend the charter must be approved by a vote of the 

citizens at the next general election. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Caribou, County of Aroostook, State of 

Maine, pursuant to the requirements of the City of Caribou Charter, Section 2.11, and Maine 

Revised Statutes, Title 30-A, §2104, presents for consideration of the voters, the following 

changes to the Charter.  

 

Section I. Councilor Eligibility Requirements Amendments 

A. Caribou City Charter Section 2.01   Composition, Eligibility, Election and Terms 

paragraph b is amended as follows: (underlined text is added, stricken text is deleted) 
 

(b) Councilor Eligibility. Each sitting City Councilor must: 

(1) Only Be qualified voters of the City,  

(2) Not hold any other City Office or hold a position that has its wages based upon 

the City Council approved annual expense budget, and 

(3), who are current for On or before December 31st of each year, have all annual 

personal and real property taxes due to the city paid in full on or before December 31st of 

the previous year, shall be eligible to hold the office of Councilor. None of the above 

eligibility requirements shall be interpreted to preclude someone from running for public 

office.  

 

B. Caribou City Charter Section 2.05 Prohibitions is amended as follows: (underlined text 

is added, stricken text is deleted) 
 

(a) Holding other office.  Except where authorized by law, no Councilor shall hold any 

other City Office or hold a position that has its salary determined by the City Council or 

its designee(s). 

(ba) Appointments and removals. Neither the Council nor any of its members shall in any 

manner dictate the appointment or removal of any city administrative officers or 

16



employees whom the Manager or any of his/her subordinates are empowered to appoint, 

but the Council may express its views and fully and freely discuss, with the Manager, 

anything pertaining to appointment and removal of such officers and employees. 

 

(cb) Interference with administration. Except for the purpose of inquiries and 

investigation under Section 2.08, the Council or its members shall deal with City officers 

and employees who are subject to the direction and supervision of the Manager, solely 

through the Manager, and neither the Council nor its members shall give orders to any 

such officer or employee, either publicly or privately. 

 

Section II.  Severability 

If any part of this ordinance or the application thereof to any person or circumstances shall, for 

any reason, be adjudged by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unconstitutional or invalid, such 

judgment shall not affect, impair of invalidate the remainder of this ordinance or the application 

thereof to other persons and circumstances, but shall be confined to its operation to the section, 

subdivision, sentence or part of the section and the persons and circumstances directly involved in 

the controversy in which such judgment shall have been rendered.  It is hereby declared to be the 

intent of the City Council that this section would have been adopted if such invalid section, 

provisions, subdivision, sentence or part of a section or application had not been included. 

 

Section III. Posting and Effective Date 

This ordinance, being introduced on _________________, 2021 and a public hearing being held 

on _____________________, 2021 was duly passed by the City Council of the City of Caribou, 

Maine, this _____day of __________________ 2021. This ordinance shall become effective 24 

hours after affirming vote of the citizens during the November 2021 election.  

 

 

______________________________  ______________________________ 

Jody Smith, Mayor    Thomas Ayer, Deputy Mayor  

 

______________________________  ______________________________ 

Courtney Boma, Councilor   R. Mark Goughan, Councilor 

 

______________________________  ______________________________ 

Doug Morrell, Councilor    Joan Theriault, Councilor  

 

______________________________   

Louella Willey, Councilor  

        Attest: 

 

______________________________ 

Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 

 
 
 
 

17



 
 CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  
CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 
TO:   City Council 
FROM:  Dennis Marker, City Manager  
RE:  Charter Amendment, Tax Delinquency of Council Candidates 
DATE:  May 21, 2021 
 

 
The Council asked that research be conducted into the constitutionality of a qualification that candidates 
and counilcors elect must be current on all taxes and have all past taxes paid prior to December 31 of the 
year before taking their oath of office.  
 
In an email from Maine Municipal legal services department, dated November 22, 2013, attorney 
Rebecca Warren Seel cites two federal cases on the issue of candidate qualifcations and the preclusion of 
candidates from being on a ballot. I reviewed these cases and provide the following to summarize the 
justices’ decisions. 
 
Case: Mark v.Van Wart et al, Constituting the Board of Elections of the County of Westchester, 325 
N.Y.S. 2d 767(1971). 
Question: If a candidate does not qualify to hold office prior to taking their oath of office, can they be 
barred from being on the ballot? 
Background: A 20-year-old candidate, who would meet the minimum age (21) requirement less than 30 
days after the new term, was barred from being on the ballot. The town had a provision for taking an oath 
of office within 30 days of the new term. 
Finding: A candidate for public office could not be barred from the ballot due to an ineligibility that 
could be cured by the candidate before taking an oath of office.  
 
Case: Deibler v. City of Rehoboth Beach, 790 F.2d 328 (3d Cir. 1986) 
Question: Can a city’s requirement that a candidate be nondelinquent on taxes bar someone from running 
for office? 
Background: A property owner who was delinquent on property taxes was barred from the ballot.  
Finding: Requiring taxes to be paid to get on a ballot violates the equal protection clause of the 
Fourteenth Amendment. It is not rationally related to the city's interests in the commitment of candidates 
to the community or in the public's respect for elected officials.  (Justices in the Diebler case provide a 
lengthy explanation for their decision. I’ve included a portion of their narrative at the end of this memo if 
you want more reading.) 
 
The above cases pertain to the matter of qualifications of candidates for office. They do not touch upon 
forfeiture of office standards that may be imposed upon elected officials by their electorate. 
 
Ordinance No. 5, Charter Amendment Pertaining to Councilor Qualifications, was drafted such that the 
requirement to have taxes paid only applies to “sitting” councilors (i.e. those that have been sworn in). I 
believe this is consistent with the two cases above and past election decisions of Caribou citizens that City 
Councilors should pay their taxes or risk forfeiture of office. 
 
 
 
 
 

18



 
 
Extract from majority opinion in Diebler case. The Appellee in this matter is the City of Rehoboth Beach. 

“Appellees have asserted two interests to which the non-delinquency requirement is rationally related. 
They contend that the requirement screens those candidates who do not have the necessary commitment 
to the well-being of Rehoboth Beach. A candidate who does not pay taxes does not have the same degree 
of concern for the community as one who does pay, according to appellees. The second interest advanced 
is public respect for city government. Appellees argue that a commissioner who is delinquent in tax 
payments will create public cynicism for the commissioners and diminish their effectiveness among the 
electorate. 

The first interest is not rationally served by the charter restriction on candidates. The individual's decision 
to pay taxes does  not logically reflect his commitment to the city, because the decision may rest solely on 
economic, ideological or other personal grounds. In the most comprehensive study of its kind, Rutgers 
University's Center for Urban Policy Research conducted a survey of delinquent property taxpayers in 
Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania, in 1974. The survey found a broad range of rationales for delinquency. Most of 
the reasons reflected some aspect of the owner's immediate financial situation or considerations related to 
the operating costs of the property. R. Lake, Real Estate Tax Delinquency 158 (1979). Poor landowners 
more frequently cited lack of funds due to personal emergencies as the reason for delinquencies. 
Wealthier landowners frequently stated that payment of taxes would make no economic sense because the 
value of their properties was less than the tax delinquency, reflecting an attitude that the proper recourse 
for the city was a tax sale. Id. at 59. Of all landowners surveyed, 22 percent stated that a tax sale was 
preferable because their properties had little or no value. Among middle income landowners, the reasons 
cited for tax delinquency were: disputing the city's determination of delinquency (6.7 percent); general 
lack of money (20 percent); lack of money for personal reasons (23.3 percent); lack of money due to costs 
associated in operating the building (13.3 percent); administrative problems with a mortgage holder or 
legal problems delaying an estate settlement (10 percent); the habit of paying late to gain potential interest 
income (3.3 percent); and general conflict with the city tax policies and miscellaneous reasons (13.3 
percent). Id. at 59. None of these reasons reflects in any way the landowner's level of commitment to city 
government. Moreover, a landowner may have a legitimate dispute with the city over the amount owed — 
no tax bill was sent, a city clerk made a clerical error, the landowner's check was lost, the payment was 
not recorded, etc. A delay in the settlement of an estate may cause the delinquency, or the ownership of 
the property may be disputed and a lawsuit ensues. Also, the mortgagor may pay taxes into an escrow 
account held by the mortgage lender and the lender has failed to make the tax payments. Finally, the 
landowner may not have the wherewithal to pay tax bills, rendering tax payments simply impossible. 
None of these taxpayers has evidenced any lack of commitment to the city. Their reasons for non-
payment reflect general economic problems in the community, or stem from the actions of third parties 
beyond the taxpayers' control, or result from administrative tax collection errors. For the foregoing 
reasons, we hold that the non-delinquency restriction of the charter does not rationally relate to a 
governmental interest in securing candidates for commissioners who are committed to the City of 
Rehoboth Beach. 

The second interest advanced by the city, avoidance of public cynicism of elected officials, is not 
rationally served by the charter restriction on candidates. This interest evokes popular conceptions of the 
superior standards to which elected officials should aspire. Appellees argue that only those candidates 
who pay taxes can earn the community's respect and obedience. While the electorate desires its 
representatives to exhibit high standards, the question remains whether a city charter, and not the popular 
vote, can define those standards. 

Political scientists have long considered the standard of qualifications for elected officials. Adam Smith, 
the 18th century British economist, observed that political leadership requires a certain age and maturity, 
as well as wealth and residency. Such qualities are cherished by the populace, engender respect for the 
leader and influence citizens to obedience. A. Smith, Lectures on Police, Justice, Revenue and Arms 10-
12 (1896). Smith viewed public utility in having rich, elderly landowners as civil magistrates. Even if 
Smith's observations are correct, the Supreme Court has condemned restrictions on candidates based on 

19



wealth and land ownership. Lubin v. Panish, 415 U.S. 709, 94 S.Ct. 1315, 39 L.Ed.2d 702 (1974); Turner 
v. Fouche, 396 U.S. 346, 90 S.Ct. 532, 24 L.Ed.2d 567 (1970). As the Court held 
in Turner, equal  protection is not served by such irrational classifications because they do not serve a 
legitimate governmental purpose, even one of engendering public respect. 

Edmund Burke, the British parliamentarian and political philosopher, believed that the standards for 
public officials should be established by the electorate by vote. He believed a representative democracy 
required that elected officials should rise and fall on their own merit, and that the field of candidates 
should not be whittled down by legislative fiat. As a member of the British House of Commons in 1777, 
he wrote: "Believe me, it is a great truth, that there never was, for any long time, a corrupt representative 
of a virtuous people; or a mean, sluggish, careless people that ever had a good government of any form." 
E. Burke, The Philosophy of Edmund Burke 148 (1969). Burke's observation draws an illuminating 
distinction between the power of the electorate to determine its representative and the power of 
government to narrow the choices of candidates. Burke would hold that candidate qualifications should be 
as limited as possible to ensure that the electorate may elect representatives capable of representing its 
views. Qualifications beyond this threshold impinge on the ability of voters to secure a reasonable choice 
of candidates, under Burke's philosophy. 

Likewise, James Madison, commenting on the qualifications for membership to the United States House 
of Representatives, criticized the enumeration of candidate qualifications beyond that necessary to elect 
true representatives of the people. He wrote: "Who are to be the objects of popular choice? Every citizen 
whose merit may recommend him to the esteem and confidence of his country. No qualification of 
wealth, of birth, of religious faith, or of civil profession is permitted to fetter the judgment or disappoint 
the inclination of the people." The Federalist Papers, No. 57 (1788). 

The City of Rehoboth Beach argues that the ballot access restriction is needed to engender public respect 
for elected officials. Yet the city has engaged in a number of steps to limit the field of candidates and 
thwart the public policy, as Madison wrote, of electing the true representatives of the people. First, and 
foremost, the city permits only freeholders to run for commissioner. Can there be respect for a system that 
prevents the participation in government of what may be a majority of the electorate? Secondly, the city 
permits nonresident landowners to vote in municipal elections. Can there be true representation and a 
governing body deserving of respect and obedience when nonresidents exercise significant control? 
Finally, the city requires candidates to be current in their tax obligations as determined by the city tax 
office. Can there be respect for a system that summarily denies the privilege of elective office to those 
who, for reasons totally unrelated to their commitment to the community, do not pay taxes? 

In imposing the ballot access restriction on candidates, the City of Rehoboth Beach has denied voters the 
opportunity to establish standards for their representatives through the power of the ballot box. We hold 
that such a restriction and its concomitant effect on representative government do not rationally relate to 
the city's asserted aim of public respect and obedience.” 
 
 
 

20



Ordinance Introduced by Councilor ______________________ 
on ________________, 2021 

 

Ordinance No. 06, 2021 Series 

City of Caribou 

County of Aroostook 

State of Maine 

 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CITY CHARTER BY CLARIFYING CITY 

COUNCILOR MEETING ATTENDANCE REQUIREMENTS  

Short Title: Councilor Attendance Requirements 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Caribou is a Local Unit of Government under the State of Maine and is 

granted home rule authority under Maine Revised Statutes, Title 30-A, §3001; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City’s Charter outlines the city’s form of government and means by which a 

City Councilor is eligible to hold, retain or forfeit their elected position; and 

 

WHEREAS, owing to disputes about interpretation of the subject standards, the City Council 

believes it is prudent to clarify the Councilor meeting attendance standards; and  

  

WHEREAS, any ordinance seeking to amend the charter must be approved by a vote of the 

citizens at the next general election. 

 

NOW THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Caribou, County of Aroostook, State of 

Maine, pursuant to the requirements of the City of Caribou Charter, Section 2.11, and Maine 

Revised Statutes, Title 30-A, §2104, presents for consideration of the voters, the following 

changes to the Charter.  

 

Section I. Councilor Eligibility Requirements Amendments 

A. Caribou City Charter Section 2.04   General Powers and Duties is amended as follows: 

(underlined text is added, stricken text is deleted) 
 

All powers of the City shall be vested in the Council except as otherwise provided by law 

or this Charter and the Council shall provide for the exercise thereof and for the 

performance of all duties and obligations imposed on the City by law. 

 

Councilors are expected to attend all regular council meetings, city budget workshop 

meetings, and meetings of councilor committees to which they have been assigned, unless 

excused by the council.  

 

B. Caribou City Charter Section 2.06 Vacancies; Forfeiture of Office; filling of 

Vacancies paragraph (b)(4) is amended as follows: (underlined text is added, stricken text 

is deleted) 
 

(4) fails to attend three consecutive 80% of regular meetings of the Council without being 

excused by the Council, 
 

C. Caribou City Charter Section 2.06 Vacancies; Forfeiture of Office; filling of 

Vacancies paragraph (b)(7) is amended as follows: (underlined text is added, stricken text 

is deleted) 
 

21



(7) fails to attend, in a calendar year, at least 80% of all budget workshop meetings and 

meetings of councilor committees to which they have been assigned, unless excused by 

the council. Community boards or meetings where a Councilor acts in a liaison role are 

excluded from this requirement.  

 

Section II.  Severability 

If any part of this ordinance or the application thereof to any person or circumstances shall, for 

any reason, be adjudged by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unconstitutional or invalid, such 

judgment shall not affect, impair of invalidate the remainder of this ordinance or the application 

thereof to other persons and circumstances, but shall be confined to its operation to the section, 

subdivision, sentence or part of the section and the persons and circumstances directly involved in 

the controversy in which such judgment shall have been rendered.  It is hereby declared to be the 

intent of the City Council that this section would have been adopted if such invalid section, 

provisions, subdivision, sentence or part of a section or application had not been included. 

 

Section III. Posting and Effective Date 

This ordinance, being introduced on _________________, 2021 and a public hearing being held 

on _____________________, 2021 was duly passed by the City Council of the City of Caribou, 

Maine, this _____day of __________________ 2021. This ordinance shall become effective 24 

hours after affirming vote of the citizens during the November 2021 election.  

 

 

______________________________  ______________________________ 

Jody Smith, Mayor    Thomas Ayer, Deputy Mayor  

 

______________________________  ______________________________ 

Courtney Boma, Councilor   R. Mark Goughan, Councilor 

 

______________________________  ______________________________ 

Doug Morrell, Councilor    Joan Theriault, Councilor  

 

______________________________   

Louella Willey, Councilor  

        Attest: 

 

______________________________ 

Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 

 
 
 
 

22



Ordinance Introduced by Councilor ______________________ 
on ________________, 2021 

 

Ordinance No. 7, 2021 Series 

City of Caribou 

County of Aroostook 

State of Maine 

 

AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CITY CHARTER BY CLARIFYING PUBLIC 

NOTICE REQUIREMENTS 

Short Title: Publication Requirements 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Caribou is a Local Unit of Government under the State of Maine, 

recognized as a body corporate and granted home rule authority under Maine Revised Statutes 

(M.R.S.), Title 30-A, §3001; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Charter mandates the posting of public notices for meetings and 

ordinances to be considered by the City Council; and 

 

WHEREAS, The Council desires to alter the public notice requirements in order to reach a 

broader audience, utilize modern technology and methods of community outreach, and reduce 

city expenses. 

  

NOW THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Caribou, County of Aroostook, State of 

Maine, pursuant to the requirements of the City of Caribou Charter, Section 2.11, and Maine 

Revised Statutes, Title 30-A, §2104, presents for consideration of the voters, the following 

changes to the Charter.  

 

Section I. Amendments to Actions Requiring an Ordinance 

 

Caribou City Charter Section 2.12 Ordinances in General paragraph (e) is amended as follows: 

(underlined text is added, stricken text is deleted) 
 

(e) "Publish" defined. As used in this section, the term "publish" means to provide notice of the 

ordinance toprint in one or more newspapers of general circulation in the City, in addition to 

bepublic notice is posted to the City’s website, social media sources and public access station, and 

notice is posted in three public locations along with when available: (1) the ordinance or a brief 

summary thereofof the ordinance, and (2) the places where copies have been filed and the times 

when they are available for public inspection. 

 

Section II.  Severability 

If any part of this ordinance or the application thereof to any person or circumstances shall, for 

any reason, be adjudged by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unconstitutional or invalid, such 

judgment shall not affect, impair of invalidate the remainder of this ordinance or the application 

thereof to other persons and circumstances, but shall be confined to its operation to the section, 

subdivision, sentence or part of the section and the persons and circumstances directly involved in 

the controversy in which such judgment shall have been rendered.  It is hereby declared to be the 

intent of the City Council that this section would have been adopted if such invalid section, 

provisions, subdivision, sentence or part of a section or application had not been included. 

 

23



Section III. Posting and Effective Date 

This ordinance, being introduced on _________________, 2021 and a public hearing being held 

on _____________________, 2021 was duly passed by the City Council of the City of Caribou, 

Maine, this _____day of __________________ 2021. This ordinance shall become effective 24 

hours after affirming vote of the citizens during the November 2021 election.  

 

______________________________  ______________________________ 

Jody Smith, Mayor    Thomas Ayer, Deputy Mayor  

 

______________________________  ______________________________ 

Courtney Boma, Councilor   R. Mark Goughan, Councilor 

 

______________________________  ______________________________ 

Doug Morrell, Councilor    Joan Theriault, Councilor  

 

______________________________   

Louella Willey, Councilor  

        Attest: 

 

______________________________ 

Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 

 
 
 
 

24



Ordinance Introduced by Councilor ______________________ 
on ________________, 2021 

 
Ordinance No. 08, 2021 Series 

City of Caribou 
County of Aroostook 

State of Maine 
 
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CITY CHARTER BY CLARIFYING CITY 
ACTIONS REQUIRED TO CONDUCT REAL ESTATE TRANSACTIONS 
Short Title: Ordinance Requirement for Real Estate Transactions 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Caribou is a Local Unit of Government under the State of Maine, 
recognized as a body corporate and granted home rule authority under Maine Revised Statutes 
(M.R.S.), Title 30-A, §3001; and 
 
WHEREAS, under M.R.S. Title 13-B, the city has power, as a body corporate, to engage in 
property transactions and contracts including, but not limited to buying, selling, leasing or 
otherwise encumbering real property; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Charter mandates all real estate transactions to be approved by the City 
Council in ordinance form after public notice, hearings, and multiple public meetings, which 
may require several months of procedure; and 
 
WHEREAS, the city’s ability expedite real estate transactions can limit or negatively impact 
those opportunities to improve the health, safety and welfare of the community; and 
 
WHEREAS, The Council desires to maintain public transparency while enabling real estate 
transactions to occur in a more expeditions manner; and 
  
WHEREAS, any ordinance seeking to amend the charter must be approved by a vote of the 
citizens at the next general election. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Caribou, County of Aroostook, State of 
Maine, pursuant to the requirements of the City of Caribou Charter, Section 2.11, and Maine 
Revised Statutes, Title 30-A, §2104, presents for consideration of the voters, the following 
changes to the Charter.  
 
Section I. Amendments to Actions Requiring an Ordinance 

 
Caribou City Charter Section 2.11 Actions Requiring an Ordinance is amended as follows: 
(underlined text is added, stricken text is deleted) 

 
In addition to other acts required by law or by specific provisions of this Charter to be done by 
ordinance, those acts of the City Council shall be by ordinance which:  

(1) Adopt or amend an administrative code or establish, alter, or abolish any City department, office 
or agency.  

(2) Provide for a fine or other penalty or establish a rule or regulation for violation of which a fine or 
other penalty is imposed.  

25



(3) Levy taxes, except as otherwise provided in Article V with respect to the property tax levied by 
adoption of the budget.  

(4) Grant, renew or extend a franchise.  

(5) Regulate the rate charged for its services by a Municipal Public Utility.  

(6) An ordinance is required to borrow money except that a resolution is sufficient in the following 
circumstances: (a) to borrow money for a project authorized by a voter referendum; (b) for 
notes in anticipation of taxes; (c) in anticipation of municipal bond revenues which have already 
been approved.  

(7) Convey or lease any lands owned by the City of Caribou except for tax acquired property which 
shall be retained, sold or otherwise disposed of in accordance with any ordinance enacted by 
the City for retention or disposition of tax-acquired property.  

(87) Adopt with or without amendment ordinances proposed under the initiative power, and  

(98) Amend or repeal any ordinance previously adopted, except as otherwise provided in Article VIII 
with respect to repeal of ordinances reconsidered under the referendum power. Acts other than 
those referred to in the preceding sentence may be done either by ordinance or by resolution.  

(109) Changes in the personnel policy. 

Ordinances are not required for the City Council to convey or lease lands. However, no real estate 
transaction, excepting those involving tax acquired properties, may be approved by the Council 
without first conducting a public hearing preceded by a seven [7] day public notice. Tax Acquired 
Property transactions shall be handled in accordance with the city’s retention or disposition of tax 
acquired property ordinance. 

 
Section II.  Severability 
If any part of this ordinance or the application thereof to any person or circumstances shall, for 
any reason, be adjudged by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unconstitutional or invalid, such 
judgment shall not affect, impair of invalidate the remainder of this ordinance or the application 
thereof to other persons and circumstances, but shall be confined to its operation to the section, 
subdivision, sentence or part of the section and the persons and circumstances directly involved in 
the controversy in which such judgment shall have been rendered.  It is hereby declared to be the 
intent of the City Council that this section would have been adopted if such invalid section, 
provisions, subdivision, sentence or part of a section or application had not been included. 
 

[Council signatures on next page] 
 

[The remainder of this page intentionally left blank] 
  

26



 

Section III. Posting and Effective Date 

This ordinance, being introduced on _________________, 2021 and a public hearing being held 
on _____________________, 2021 was duly passed by the City Council of the City of Caribou, 
Maine, this _____day of __________________ 2021. This ordinance shall become effective 24 
hours after affirming vote of the citizens during the November 2021 election.  

 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Jody Smith, Mayor    Thomas Ayer, Deputy Mayor  
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Courtney Boma, Councilor   R. Mark Goughan, Councilor 
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Doug Morrell, Councilor    Joan Theriault, Councilor  
 
______________________________   
Louella Willey, Councilor  
        Attest: 
 

______________________________ 
Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 

 
 
 
 

27



Ordinance Introduced by Councilor ______________________ 
on ________________, 2021 

 
Ordinance No. 09, 2021 Series 

City of Caribou 
County of Aroostook 

State of Maine 
 
AN ORDINANCE PROVIDING ADMINISTRATIVE REVIEW OF RUBBISH HAULER 
LICENSES 
Short Title: Rubbish Hauler Licensing 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Caribou is a Local Unit of Government under the State of Maine and is granted 
home rule authority under Maine Revised Statutes, Title 30-A, §3001; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Caribou adopted rubbish hauler licensing procedures as part of its ordinances and 
regulations; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council desires to stream line license renewal processes. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Caribou, County of Aroostook, State of Maine, 
pursuant to the requirements of the City of Caribou Charter, Section 2.11, does ordain the following: 
 
Section I. Code Amendment 

1. Section 6-202 of Chapter 6, Health and Sanitation is amended as follows: (stricken text is deleted, 
underlined text is added) 

 
Section 6-202 License Necessary When Hauling For Hire  

All persons hauling waste paper, ashes, or other refuse material for hire or pay in the City of 
Caribou shall secure a license from the Municipal Officers City Administration for the ability to 
haul said refuse for which they shall pay to the City Treasurer the sum of $25.00 per truck used to 
haul said refuse. Said license holder shall make each vehicle, used to haul such refuse, available 
for inspection upon request to any police officer of the City of Caribou for adherence to State 
vehicle inspections laws as amended from time to time. 

2. Article IV Commercial Rubbish Haulers, of Chapter 7, License and Permits is amended as follows: 
(stricken text is deleted, underlined text is added) 

 
Any person engaged in the business of collection or disposal of garbage or rubbish in the compact 
area must apply for a license as provided in Chapter 6, Article III, Section 6-202. 

 
Section II.  Severability 
If any part of this ordinance or the application thereof to any person or circumstances shall, for any 
reason, be adjudged by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unconstitutional or invalid, such 
judgment shall not affect, impair of invalidate the remainder of this ordinance or the application 
thereof to other persons and circumstances, but shall be confined to its operation to the section, 
subdivision, sentence or part of the section and the persons and circumstances directly involved in 
the controversy in which such judgment shall have been rendered.  It is hereby declared to be the 
intent of the City Council that this section would have been adopted if such invalid section, 
provisions, subdivision, sentence or part of a section or application had not been included. 
 
 

28



Section III. Posting and Effective Date 

This ordinance, being introduced on May 3, 2021 and a public hearing being held on 
___________________, 2021 was duly passed by the City Council of the City of Caribou, Maine, 
this _____day of __________________ 2021. This ordinance shall become effective 14 days after 
adoption by the Council.  

 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Jody Smith, Mayor    Thomas Ayer, Deputy Mayor  
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Courtney Boma, Councilor   R. Mark Goughan, Councilor 
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Doug Morrell, Councilor    Joan Theriault, Councilor  
 
______________________________   
Louella Willey, Councilor  

Attest: 
______________________________ 
Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 

29



Introduced by Councilor ____________________ 
On ___________,_____  2021 

 

 

ORDINANCE No. 11, 2021 Series 

 

City of Caribou 

County of Aroostook 

State of Maine 

 

An Ordinance Amending Campground Development Standards  

Short Title: Campground Amendments 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Caribou is a Local Unit of Government under the State of Maine and is 

granted home rule authority under Maine Revised Statutes, Title 30-A, §3001; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Caribou has adopted Title 13, Land Use Ordinances as part of its 

ordinances and regulations, which outline land use laws and zoning regulations; and 

 

WHEREAS, a request has been made to amend Title 13, Land Use Ordinances to facilitate the 

more beneficial use of land and properties for economic advancement within the community; and 

  

WHEREAS, the City Planning Board conducted a public hearing on May 13, 2021 to receive 

comment on the proposal, which hearing was preceded by the notification of affected land 

owners and the general public in accordance with city notification procedures, and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Planning Board has forwarded a positive recommendation to the City 

Council for the proposed Title 13 revisions.  

 

NOW THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Caribou, County of Aroostook, State of 

Maine, pursuant to the requirements of the City of Caribou Charter, Section 2.11, does ordain the 

following: 

 

Section I. Title 13 Revisions 

Section 13-700 paragraph 6. Campground and/or Recreational Vehicle Park standards is 

amended as follows: (underlined text is added, stricken text is deleted) 

 

A campground and/or recreational vehicle (RV) park shall conform to the minimum requirements 

imposed under State licensing procedures of (10-144A CMR 205) "Tent and Recreational Vehicle 

Parks..." and the following (in case of possible conflict, the stricter rule shall apply). For the purposes of 

this Section "RV" shall include: travel RV, pick-up coach, motor home, camping trailer, dependent RV, 

and self-contained RV. 

 

A.  General. 

1.  A campground and/or RV park shall have no less than four (4) acres in the R-2 District no less 

than ten (10) acres in the R-3 District. of land and aAll campground and/or RV park sites (sites) 

30



 

 

or structures shall be located at least 100 feet from any property line and 200 feet from any 

residence, exclusive of the residence belonging to the owner. 

 

2.  Sites shall be laid out and screened in such a manner that none are within view from public 

roads, navigable rivers, or existing residence. Any combination of evergreen planting, 

landscaped earthen berms, or solid fencing may be used to achieve this screening standards, 

when sites would otherwise be visible from the locations described above. 

 

3.  No trailers or mobile homes, other than RVs, shall be permitted within any campground and/or 

RV park, temporarily or otherwise. No RVs shall be stored or exhibited for sale within the 

campground and/or RV park. Permanent or long-term dwellings or shelter devices are 

specifically prohibited. 

 

4.  Tent sites and RV sites shall be laid out so that the density of each developed acre of land shall 

not exceed the standards below (in terms of sites per acre of land, excluding circulation roads). 

Land supporting wetland vegetation, and land below the normal high-water line of a water body 

shall not be included in calculating land area per site. 

 

 Non-Shoreland Shoreland Areas 

Tent Sites 14 per acre 8 per acre 

RV and Travel Trailer Sites 11 per acre 7 per acre 

 

 5.  The minimum frontage of a tent site or RV site along any shoreline of a waterbody shall be 100 

feet. The minimum setback from the normal high-water line shall be 100 feet for all tent sites or 

RV sites, other vehicles, and temporary or permanent structures. 

 

6.  No Use of tent sites or RV sites shall be located within a Resource Protections District or within 

the 100-year floodplain shall be prohibited between March 1 and May 31 and during seasonal 

flooding events.  

 

7.  Recreation Vehicles Located within Zones A1-30, as indicated on the National Flood Insurance 

Program Rate Maps (FIRM) shall either: 

 a. Be on the site for fewer than 180 consecutive days, 

 b. Be fully licensed and ready for highway use. A recreational vehicle is ready for highway use if 

it is on its wheels or jacking system, is attached to the site only by quick disconnect type 

utilities and security devices and has no permanently attached additions; or 

 c. Meet the permit requirements of elevation and anchoring requirements for “manufactured 

home” in Flood Hazard Area regulations 13-606.H. a & b. 

 

B.  Parking and Circulation. 

 

1. A minimum of three hundred (300) square feet of off-street parking plus maneuvering space 

shall be provided for each tent site or RV site. RVs shall be parked in spaces so that: 

 

31



 

 

a. There shall be a minimum of 50 feet between vehicles; and 

b. There shall be a minimum of 75 feet between all RVs and tents, and all public rights-of-way 

located inside the boundaries of the campground. 

 

2. Vehicular access shall be provided onto a hard-surfaced adequate for the volume and type of 

traffic likely to be generated. Grades and sight distances specified in the Road Design and 

Construction Standards, within these Ordinances, shall be observed in designing all 

intersections. Roads shall be constructed of at least 12" of bank run gravel (no stone larger than 

4"), 2" of crushed gravel (1/2" chips) and two (2) applications of liquid asphalt (1/2 gallon per sq. 

yd. each application). The minimum width of roadways shall be twelve (12) feet for one-way 

roads and twenty-two (22) feet for two-way roads. No vehicle parking shall be permitted on the 

roadway. 

 

3. Standards for the construction of roads and/or driveways and drainage systems, culverts and 

other related features applicable in the Shoreland Zone can be found in Sec. 13-500 Shoreland 

Zoning Ordinance. 15. Land Use Standards H. Roads and Driveways. 

 

C.  Health and Safety. 

 

1. Each tent site or RV site shall be provided with a picnic table and trash receptacle. The park 

management shall dispose of refuse from said containers by transporting the refuse in a closed 

truck or in enclosed containers or bags to an approved disposal area at least once every three 

(3) days. 

 

2. A campground and/or RV park shall provide water and sewerage disposal systems, sanitary 

facilities, and convenience facilities in accordance with the regulations of 10-144A CMR 205 and 

the "State of Maine Subsurface Wastewater Disposal Rules". All RV sites shall be equipped with 

water and sewage hook-ups, and connected to approved distribution or disposal systems. 

 

3. Fire extinguishers capable of dealing with electrical and wood fires shall be kept in all service 

buildings. A suitable ingress and egress shall be provided so that the campground or RV park 

may be readily serviced in emergency situations. 24-hour emergency communication service 

(e.g. telephones) shall be provided. 

 

D. Planning and Review. 

 

1. Roads, parking, sites, and required facilities shall be planned in accordance with the basic 

principles outlined below and shall be shown on the proposed plan which is submitted for 

review and approval. 

 

a. A logical sequence of entry and circulation should be created: entrance, administration, 

storage, parking, sites, toilets, laundry, playing fields, or shoreline. 

 

32



 

 

b. Sites should be clustered in groups according to intensity of use (low density, medium 

density, etc.) and also related to common support service areas (laundries, play areas, etc.) 

serving a number of site clusters. The purpose is to minimize road length, increase 

accessibility, and preserve open space. 

c. Footpaths and roads should follow "desired lines" of pedestrian and vehicular movement 

between sites and all jointly used facilities. Parking areas may be grassed, reinforced with 

open concrete blocks. 

d. Access roads shall be laid out as loops to the greatest extent practicable, although "cul-de-

sacs" or "deadends" may be allowed to serve up to twenty (20) campsites. 

 

2. A soil erosion and sedimentation control plan approved by the County Soil and Water 

Conservation District shall be submitted. In addition to data on soils, slopes, and drainage, a 

vegetation map showing the following items may be required: 

 

a. The major types of vegetation should be identified and described (as to age, height, 

openness or density, and pattern, either natural or reforested). 

b.  New planting should be selected to provide screening and shelter, to tolerate existing and 

proposed site conditions, and to blending compatibly with existing natural vegetation. 

c. All vegetative clearing should avoid creating straight line edges between open land and 

surviving stands. 

d.  Areas of activity and/or traffic should be sited to avoid wildlife areas (such as thickets for 

birds and small mammals, or deer yards and trails). 

 

Section II.  Severability 

If any part of this ordinance or the application thereof to any person or circumstances shall, for 

any reason, be adjudged by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unconstitutional or invalid, such 

judgment shall not affect, impair of invalidate the remainder of this ordinance or the application 

thereof to other persons and circumstances, but shall be confined to its operation to the section, 

subdivision, sentence or part of the section and the persons and circumstances directly involved in 

the controversy in which such judgment shall have been rendered.  It is hereby declared to be the 

intent of the City Council that this section would have been adopted if such invalid section, 

provisions, subdivision, sentence or part of a section or application had not been included. 

 

[The remainder of this page intentionally left blank] 

  

33



 

 

Section III. Posting and Effective Date 

This ordinance, being introduced on _________ ___, 2021 and a public hearing being held on 

_________________, 2021 was duly passed by the City Council of the City of Caribou, Maine, 

this _____day of __________________ 2021. This ordinance shall become effective 14 days 

after adoption by the Council.  

 

 

______________________________  ______________________________ 

Jody Smith, Mayor    Thomas Ayer, Deputy Mayor  

 

______________________________  ______________________________ 

Courtney Boma, Councilor   R. Mark Goughan, Councilor 

 

______________________________  ______________________________ 

Doug Morrell, Councilor   Joan Theriault, Councilor 

 

______________________________   

Lou Willey, Councilor  

        Attest:______________________________ 

Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 

34



Ordinance Introduced by Councilor ______________________ 
on ________________, 2021 

 

Ordinance No. 12, 2021 Series 

City of Caribou 

County of Aroostook 

State of Maine 

 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING CHAPTER 13, SECTION 13-202, ZONING MAP 

Short Title: Evergreen Zoning Map Amendment. 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Caribou is a Local Unit of Government under the State of Maine and is 

granted home rule authority under Maine Revised Statutes, Title 30-A, §3001; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Caribou has adopted Chapter 13, Land Use Ordinances as part of its 

ordinances and regulations, which outline land use laws and zoning regulations; and 

 

WHEREAS, a request has been made to amend the official zoning map in order to facilitate the 

more beneficial use of land and properties for economic advancement within the community; and 

  

WHEREAS, the City Planning Board conducted a public hearing on May 13, 2021 to receive 

comment on the proposal, which hearing was preceded by the notification of affected land 

owners and the general public in accordance with city notification procedures, and 

 

WHEREAS, the City Planning Board has forwarded a positive recommendation to the City 

Council for the proposed rezoning.  

 

NOW THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Caribou, County of Aroostook, State of 

Maine, pursuant to the requirements of the City of Caribou Charter, Section 2.11, does ordain the 

following: 

 

Section I. Zoning Map Amendment 

The Official Zoning map is hereby amended as illustrated on the attached Exhibit A and city 

staff are directed to make the appropriate changes and filings in accordance with Title 13 codes. 

 

Section II.  Severability 

If any part of this ordinance or the application thereof to any person or circumstances shall, for 

any reason, be adjudged by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unconstitutional or invalid, such 

judgment shall not affect, impair of invalidate the remainder of this ordinance or the application 

thereof to other persons and circumstances, but shall be confined to its operation to the section, 

subdivision, sentence or part of the section and the persons and circumstances directly involved in 

the controversy in which such judgment shall have been rendered.  It is hereby declared to be the 

intent of the City Council that this section would have been adopted if such invalid section, 

provisions, subdivision, sentence or part of a section or application had not been included. 

 

  

35



Section III. Posting and Effective Date 

This ordinance, being introduced on May 25, 2021 and a public hearing being held on June 14, 

2021 was duly passed by the City Council of the City of Caribou, Maine, this _____day of 

__________________ 2021. This ordinance shall become effective 14 days after adoption by the 

Council.  

 

 

______________________________  ______________________________ 

Jody Smith, Mayor    Thomas Ayer, Deputy Mayor  

 

______________________________  ______________________________ 

Courtney Boma, Councilor   R. Mark Goughan, Councilor 

 

______________________________  ______________________________ 

Doug Morrell, Councilor    Joan Theriault, Councilor  

 

______________________________   

Louella Willey, Councilor  

        Attest: 

 

______________________________ 

Danielle Brissette, City Clerk

36



Exhibit A
Rezoning of 14 Evergreen Pkwy from I-2 to C-2

Subject Property to 
become C-2

Laurette St

Glendale Rd

H
ilcrest A

ve

M
id

lan
d

 A
ve

Sperry Dr
G

len
n

 St

Rose St

C-2

I-2

R-1 C-2

C-2

C-2C-2

37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



         41.6%  
through the year 

45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



Ci
ty

 M
an

ag
er

's
 R

ep
or

t
Ju

ne
 1

4,
 2

02
1

E
co

no
m

ic
 P

ro
je

ct
s

R
iv

er
 F

ro
nt

 - 
Po

w
er

pl
an

ts
M

eD
EP

 a
w

ar
de

d 
th

e 
en

vi
ro

nm
en

ta
l s

tu
dy

 o
f t

he
 p

ow
er

pl
an

ts
 to

 C
ou

nt
y 

En
vi

ro
nm

en
ta

l. 
M

eD
EP

 is
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

th
e 

ta
nk

s i
nt

o 
th

e 
sc

op
e 

of
 w

or
k 

(t
an

ks
 st

ill
 o

w
ne

d 
by

 M
er

lin
 O

ne
). 

Ci
ty

 w
or

ki
ng

 w
ith

 p
ot

en
tia

l b
uy

er
, a

ge
nd

a 
ite

m
 fo

r t
hi

s m
ee

tin
g.

B
ro

ad
ba

nd
 In

iti
at

iv
e

M
et

 w
ith

 S
pe

ct
ru

m
 to

 d
isc

us
s e

xp
an

sio
n 

op
tio

ns
. S

en
t t

he
m

 a
 li

st
 o

f 4
48

 h
om

es
 th

at
 n

ee
d 

se
rv

ic
e.

 T
he

y 
w

ill
 g

et
 a

 b
id

 b
ac

k.
 S

til
l 

w
ai

tin
g 

fo
r c

os
t o

f e
xp

an
sio

n.
 C

U
D 

co
nt

in
ui

ng
 to

 e
va

lu
at

e 
po

ss
ib

le
 o

pe
ra

tio
n 

of
 a

 d
ar

k 
fib

er
 sy

st
em

.
O

gr
en

 D
um

p 
So

la
r 

Pr
oj

ec
t

Ri
gh

t-
of

-w
ay

 is
su

e 
on

 O
gr

en
 R

d 
fo

r V
er

sa
nt

 re
so

lv
ed

. F
in

al
 le

as
e 

ag
re

em
en

ts
 o

ut
 fo

r s
ig

na
tu

re
s.

20
21

 C
D

B
G

 A
pp

lic
at

io
ns

W
ai

tin
g 

fo
r f

un
di

ng
 d

ec
isi

on
 fr

om
 th

e 
St

at
e.

E
ve

nt
s a

nd
 M

ar
ke

tin
g

Ri
bb

on
 c

ut
tin

gs
 sc

he
du

le
d:

 L
uk

e'
s S

m
al

l E
ng

in
e 

on
 S

at
ur

da
y 

Ju
ne

 1
2 

@
 9

 (g
ra

nd
 o

pe
ni

ng
 st

ar
ts

 a
t 8

am
 a

nd
 fr

ee
 b

ar
be

qu
e 

st
ar

tin
g 

at
 

10
am

); 
Hi

llt
op

 H
ei

gh
ts

 ri
bb

on
 c

ut
tin

g 
on

 T
ue

sd
ay

 Ju
ne

 2
2 

@
 3

:3
0 

(s
ee

 se
pa

ra
te

 it
em

 o
n 

M
an

ag
er

's 
re

po
rt

 fo
r m

or
e 

de
ta

ils
). 

N
ex

t 
Th

ur
sd

ay
s o

n 
Sw

ed
en

 S
tr

ee
t i

s J
un

e 
17

, 6
pm

 - 
9p

m
.  

Pl
ea

se
 c

he
ck

 w
eb

sit
e 

fo
r a

dd
iti

on
al

 e
ve

nt
s a

nd
 u

pd
at

es
. 

L
an

db
an

k
O

n 
cu

rr
en

t a
ge

nd
a 

as
 p

ar
t o

f t
he

 ta
x 

ac
qu

ire
d 

pr
op

er
ty

 d
isp

os
al

 p
ol

ic
y 

fo
r f

in
al

 a
pp

ro
va

l. 

T
itl

e 
13

 R
ew

ri
te

M
aj

or
 a

dm
in

ist
ra

tiv
e 

ch
an

ge
s o

n 
ag

en
da

 fo
r p

ub
lic

 h
ea

rin
g 

an
d 

po
ss

ib
le

 a
ct

io
n.

 P
la

nn
in

g 
Bo

ar
d 

no
w

 w
or

ki
ng

 o
n 

Ho
m

e 
O

cc
up

at
io

ns
 

an
d 

pr
oc

es
s r

ev
isi

on
s.

Fe
de

ra
l A

m
er

ic
an

 R
es

cu
e 

Pl
an

 A
ct

St
ill

 w
ai

tin
g 

fo
r f

in
al

 a
m

ou
nt

s a
nd

 re
st

ric
tio

ns
. M

us
t b

e 
sp

en
t b

y 
De

ce
m

be
r 2

02
4 

or
 re

tu
rn

ed
 to

 tr
ea

su
ry

. M
ee

tin
g 

sc
he

du
le

d 
fo

r n
ex

t 
w

ee
k 

w
ith

 th
e 

Co
un

ty
 a

nd
 n

ei
gh

bo
rin

g 
m

un
ic

ip
al

iti
es

 to
 d

isc
us

s c
os

t s
ha

rin
g 

op
po

rt
un

iti
es

.

B
lig

ht
 C

le
an

up

As
be

st
os

 a
ba

te
m

en
t o

ng
oi

ng
 a

t 8
64

 M
ai

n,
 d

em
ol

iti
on

 c
on

tr
ac

t h
as

 b
ee

n 
sig

ne
d 

w
ith

 a
 st

ar
t d

at
e 

on
 o

r a
bo

ut
 Ju

ne
 1

8 
w

ith
 c

om
pl

et
io

n 
on

 o
r a

bo
ut

 Ju
ly

 1
8.

  S
en

t e
vi

ct
io

n 
no

tic
es

 to
 o

cc
up

an
ts

 o
f t

ax
 a

cq
ui

re
d 

pr
op

er
tie

s o
n 

Hi
llc

re
st

 a
nd

 N
or

th
 S

tr
ee

t. 
Po

lic
e 

de
pa

rt
m

en
t 

ha
nd

 d
el

iv
er

ed
 n

ot
ic

es
 th

at
 w

er
e 

re
tu

rn
ed

. C
hi

ef
 G

ah
ag

an
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

CE
O

 M
ur

ch
iso

n 
w

ith
 a

 p
ho

ne
 n

um
be

r t
o 

a 
lo

ca
l c

on
ta

ct
 fo

r 3
7 

Ho
m

e 
Fa

rm
 R

oa
d.

 5
 N

ot
ic

e 
of

 V
io

la
tio

ns
 se

nt
 o

ve
r p

as
t t

w
o 

w
ee

ks
.

B
ir

ds
ey

e 
C

le
an

up
DE

P 
ha

s g
iv

en
 fi

na
l a

pp
ro

va
l f

or
 so

ils
 c

le
an

up
. H

al
ey

 W
ar

d 
to

 su
bm

it 
ad

di
tio

na
l c

on
cr

et
e 

sa
m

pl
in

g.
60

 A
cc

es
s H

ig
hw

ay
Bu

ild
in

g 
of

fic
ia

ls 
ha

ve
 m

et
 w

ith
 d

ev
el

op
er

s.
 S

til
l w

ai
tin

g 
fo

r c
om

pl
et

ed
 p

la
ns

 o
n 

bu
ild

in
g 

re
us

e.

R
iv

er
 F

ro
nt

 - 
M

as
te

r 
Pl

an
St

ak
e 

ho
ld

er
 g

ro
up

 c
on

du
ct

in
g 

su
rv

ey
s o

f p
ub

lic
. N

ex
t m

ee
tin

g:
 Ju

ne
 1

6 
to

 d
isc

us
s s

ur
ve

y 
re

su
lts

, c
on

ce
pt

ua
l R

iv
er

fr
on

t D
ev

el
op

m
en

t 
Di

st
ric

t a
nd

 b
eg

in
 a

 M
as

te
r P

la
n 

ef
fo

rt
.

Fa
ça

de
 Im

pr
ov

em
en

t P
ro

gr
am

M
od

ifi
ed

 p
ro

gr
am

 d
et

ai
ls 

fo
r n

ex
t s

pr
in

g 
to

 in
cl

ud
e 

ex
pi

ra
tio

n 
pe

rio
d.

 2
02

1 
gr

an
te

es
 m

ov
in

g 
fo

rw
ar

d 
w

ith
 th

ei
r p

ro
je

ct
s.

H
ill

to
p 

Se
ni

or
 L

iv
in

g
Pl

ea
se

 a
tt

en
d 

th
e 

rib
bo

n 
cu

tt
in

g 
an

d 
op

en
 h

ou
se

 3
:3

0 
- 4

:0
0 

Tu
es

da
y 

Ju
ne

 2
2.

 B
ui

ld
in

g 
to

ur
s b

eg
in

 a
t 2

pm
.

Si
te

l B
ui

ld
in

g
M

r. 
Ca

ss
id

y 
su

bm
itt

ed
 p

er
m

it 
ap

pl
ic

at
io

n 
an

d 
do

cu
m

en
ta

tio
n 

to
 re

ce
iv

e 
hi

s f
aç

ad
e 

im
pr

ov
em

en
t g

ra
nt

 fu
nd

s f
or

 si
gn

ag
e.

A
ld

ri
ch

 A
T

V
/S

no
w

m
ob

ile
 S

to
ra

ge
Pr

op
er

ty
 p

ur
ch

as
ed

 fr
om

 C
EG

C.
 O

w
ne

r w
ai

tin
g 

to
 se

e 
ho

w
 Ja

ro
sz

 S
to

ra
ge

 o
n 

Li
m

es
to

ne
 w

or
ks

 b
ef

or
e 

m
ov

in
g 

ah
ea

d.
Ja

ro
sz

 S
to

ra
ge

 - 
L

im
es

to
ne

 S
t

Co
ns

tr
uc

tio
n 

on
go

in
g 

at
 th

e 
50

 X
 1

00
 b

ui
ld

in
g.

 

64



O
th

er
 A

dm
in

ist
ra

tiv
e 

Pr
oj

ec
ts

N
ew

 C
ity

 M
an

ag
er

 R
ec

ru
itm

en
t

Fi
rs

t r
ou

nd
 in

te
rv

ie
w

s a
re

 c
om

pl
et

e.
 C

ou
nc

il 
w

ill
 se

le
ct

 to
p 

tw
o 

ca
nd

id
at

es
 fo

r s
ec

on
d 

ro
un

d 
of

 in
te

rv
ie

w
s a

nd
 c

ity
 to

ur
.

U
ni

on
 N

eg
ot

ia
tio

ns
. 

O
n 

th
e 

ag
en

da
 fo

r t
hi

s m
ee

tin
g.

T
ax

 A
cq

ui
re

d 
Pr

op
er

ty
 P

ol
ic

y
O

rd
in

an
ce

 N
o.

 4
 o

n 
ag

en
da

 fo
r p

ub
lic

 h
ea

rin
g 

an
d 

ad
op

tio
n.

Fi
re

 S
tr

uc
tu

ra
l W

or
k

Pa
in

te
rs

 a
re

 fi
ni

sh
in

g 
in

te
rio

r p
ai

nt
in

g.

T
ea

gu
e 

Pa
rk

Sp
la

sh
 p

ad
 w

or
k 

is 
m

ov
in

g 
fo

rw
ar

d.
 C

on
cr

et
e 

po
ur

ed
 Ju

ne
 1

0.

Pu
bl

ic
 S

af
et

y 
B

ui
ld

in
g

Co
un

ci
l P

ub
lic

 S
af

et
y 

Co
m

m
itt

ee
 w

ill
 m

ee
t w

ith
 a

rc
hi

te
ct

 c
on

su
lta

nt
s o

n 
Tu

es
da

y 
Ju

ne
 1

5 
at

 4
:0

0 
in

 th
e 

Co
un

ci
l C

ha
m

be
rs

 to
 d

isc
us

s 
sit

e 
op

tio
ns

 a
nd

 p
ub

lic
 o

ut
re

ac
h 

ef
fo

rt
s.

Fi
re

 S
ta

tio
n 

R
en

ov
at

io
ns

W
ai

tin
g 

fo
r s

pr
in

kl
er

 sy
st

em
 b

id
s b

ef
or

e 
de

te
rm

in
in

g 
ne

xt
 st

ep
s o

n 
th

is 
pr

oj
ec

t.

In
ve

st
m

en
t P

ol
ic

y
N

ee
d 

to
 sc

he
du

le
 n

ex
t m

ee
tin

g.

T
ra

ile
r 

Pa
rk

 C
lo

su
re

N
ee

d 
to

 sc
he

du
le

 n
ex

t m
ee

tin
g 

of
 c

om
m

itt
ee

. D
em

ol
iti

on
 c

on
tr

ac
t h

as
 b

ee
n 

sig
ne

d 
fo

r L
ot

 #
 7

5 
(d

an
ge

ro
us

 b
ui

ld
in

g)
 w

ith
 a

 st
ar

t d
at

e 
on

 o
r a

bo
ut

 Ju
ne

 1
8 

w
ith

 c
om

pl
et

io
n 

on
 o

r a
bo

ut
 Ju

ly
 1

8.
Fi

sh
 H

at
ch

er
y 

B
ri

dg
e

W
ai

tin
g 

fo
r n

ot
ic

e 
fr

om
 M

eD
O

T 
ab

ou
t a

dd
iti

on
al

 m
ee

tin
gs

.
C

ab
le

 F
ra

nc
hi

se
 R

en
ew

al
St

at
e 

le
gi

sla
tio

n 
be

in
g 

co
ns

id
er

ed
 to

 h
av

e 
al

l f
ra

nc
hi

se
s r

eg
ul

at
ed

 b
y 

st
at

e.
A

ir
po

rt
Fe

nc
in

g 
m

at
er

ia
ls 

ar
e 

ba
ck

lo
gg

ed
 1

0 
- 1

2 
w

ee
ks

.
C

ity
 H

al
l B

oi
le

r 
Sy

st
em

s
Pr

e-
m

ee
tin

g 
he

ld
 o

n 
th

er
m

os
ta

ts
 a

nd
 v

al
ve

s.
 O

ne
 c

om
pa

ny
 a

tt
en

de
d.

 B
id

s d
ue

 M
on

da
y 

Ju
ne

 1
4.

C
ha

m
be

rs
 A

V
 S

ys
te

m
Co

nt
in

ui
ng

 to
 in

ve
st

ig
at

e 
so

un
d 

iss
ue

s,
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

po
ss

ib
le

 in
te

rf
er

en
ce

 fr
om

 e
le

ct
ro

ni
c 

de
vi

ce
s.

R
iv

er
 R

oa
d

Su
rv

ey
 o

f C
ho

m
ka

 p
ro

pe
rt

y 
is 

co
m

pl
et

e.
 R

eq
ui

re
s d

isc
us

sio
n 

in
 e

xe
cu

tiv
e 

se
ss

io
n.

N
ew

 L
E

D
 S

tr
ee

t l
ig

ht
s

10
 li

gh
ts

 re
pa

ire
d.

 W
or

k 
or

de
r s

ub
m

itt
ed

 to
 re

pl
ac

e 
m

as
t a

rm
 a

nd
 li

gh
t o

n 
Be

nn
et

 D
riv

e 
by

 W
al

gr
ee

ns
.

G
en

er
al

 P
la

n 
U

pd
at

e
St

ill
 w

or
ki

ng
 o

n 
th

e 
cu

rr
en

t l
an

d 
us

e 
su

rv
ey

, w
hi

ch
 is

 n
ee

de
d 

fo
r f

ut
ur

e 
la

nd
 u

se
 d

isc
us

sio
ns

.
W

ag
e 

Po
lic

y
N

o 
fu

rt
he

r a
ct

io
n 

at
 th

is 
tim

e.
C

O
V

ID
-1

9 
St

at
us

Ca
rib

ou
 is

 o
pe

n 
fo

r b
us

in
es

s!
Pe

rs
on

ne
l P

ol
ic

y
N

o 
fu

rt
he

r a
ct

io
n 

at
 th

is 
tim

e.
Pa

rk
in

g 
L

ot
 P

av
in

g
Fi

re
 st

at
io

n 
re

ar
 lo

t a
nd

 li
br

ar
y 

ar
e 

sla
te

d 
fo

r t
hi

s y
ea

r. 
Fi

na
liz

in
g 

pl
an

s f
or

 st
at

io
n 

re
ta

in
in

g 
w

al
l r

ep
ai

rs
.

Pr
oc

ur
em

en
t P

ol
ic

y
Fe

lc
h 

&
 C

om
pa

ny
 h

as
 p

ro
vi

de
d 

fe
ed

ba
ck

 o
n 

th
e 

po
lic

y 
an

d 
m

ad
e 

so
m

e 
re

co
m

m
en

da
tio

ns
. W

ill
 re

vi
se

 fo
r C

ou
nc

il.

Pe
rs

on
ne

l C
ha

ng
es

As
sis

ta
nt

 C
ity

 C
le

rk
 p

os
iti

on
 is

 o
pe

n.
 P

ub
lic

 W
or

ks
 h

as
 o

pe
ni

ng
s.

 L
ib

ra
ry

 D
ire

ct
or

 p
os

iti
on

 w
ill

 b
e 

ad
de

d 
so

on
. P

le
as

e 
ch

ec
k 

th
e 

w
eb

sit
e 

fo
r a

dd
iti

on
al

 d
et

ai
ls 

on
 c

ar
ee

r o
pp

or
tu

ni
tie

s.
 

65



CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  

CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 
TO:   Mayor and Council Members 

FROM:  Dennis Marker, City Manager 

RE:   2020 Recommended Mil Rate 

DATE:  June 20, 2019 

 

The City charter requires the City Council to adopt its new mil rates before July 1. Based on the 

appropriations requested by the County, the RSU 39 and the city’s adopted expense budget, the 

recommended mil rate for 2021 is 0.02340, which is a decrease from the current 0.02355.  

 

The following is a summary of several factors contributing to the recommended rate.  

• The taxable real estate valuation increased by $6,403,900 

• The taxable Personal Property Valuation increased by $127,300 

• The exempt business personal property under the BETE program increased by $1,204,000 which 

means businesses are growing and getting more tax relief, but the flip side is that the city only 

receives 53% of that value back from the state. 

• The County annual appropriation increased by $31,414  

• The RSU annual appropriation decreased by $26.50  

• The Municipal annual appropriation decreased by $182,771 

• The recommended rate assumes the Council will apply $156,000 of the 2019 lapsed 

appropriations toward mil rate reduction as provided for in the city charter.  

• The recommended rate assumes no city expense budget reductions are made and city revenues 

will be as shown in the 2021 projected revenue budget. 

 

There is anticipation that federal dollars are coming to the city, but these can only be used for pandemic 

relief or fortification efforts. Due to the funding uncertainty and restrictions no adjustments to operating 

or capital expenditures have been made in the mil rate calculation. If these funds are received, the 

Council will be able to reserve them until it is determined how to spend the funds in compliance with 

federal stipulations. 

 

Similarly, there is speculation that RSU 39 will receive additional state funds in 2021. The school board 

has committed to use any additional funds to offset their appropriation amount (i.e. reduce taxes). If the 

additional funding is realized, the RSU can either request and then reserve the funds for future budget 

offsets or the RSU can reduce their quarterly appropriation requests. In the event the RSU reduces their 

appropriation requests, the city would still collect the amount approved by voters on Jun 8 and the 

difference would be regarded as additional city revenue to offset future year tax rates.  

 

Knowing that capital expenditures are projected to more than double in 2022, having the additional 

funds in the RSU or City reserves will hedge significant mil rate increases next year. To lower the mil 

rate in anticipation of these funds would provide some relief this year but make the mil rate increase in 

2022 more severe. The recommendation to maintain the 0.2355 mil rate is based on the June 8, 2021 

voter approved budget for the RSU and anticipation of additional revenues needed to offset significant 

capital needs next year. 

 

Action Needed: Prior to July 1 the Council needs to set the mil rate. Resolution 06-01-2021 is 

drafted to set the mil rate for 2021 and establish several other tax collection related items. Mrs. 

Penny Thompson has outlined the various items in her memo that follows. 

66



 
 
 
 

 
To:   Mayor Smith, Caribou City Council Members, Manager Marker 
From:   Penny Thompson, tax assessment department 
Date:   June 11, 2021 
Re:   Set 2021 tax rate and property tax commitment  
 
At the June 14, 2021 meeting, the Caribou City Council may set the 2021 tax rate and 
approve the other motions associated with the annual tax commitment.  
 
This is a summary of the actions to be taken at the meeting: 
 

1. Set a tax rate for the commitment of 2021 property taxes. Action: set the 2021 
tax rate at _________________________; Staff Recommendation:  .02355 (a 
0.6% reduction). Additional valuation is sufficient to cover County increase. 
 

2. Set the date of commitment for the 2021 property taxes to be committed to 
the Tax Collector as pursuant to MRSA Title 36, §505 (1). Action: Set a 
commitment date of __________________________________________ ; Staff 
Recommendation:  June 25, 2021 (Typically is July 1, it is best to commit as 
soon as possible after setting the tax rate. A Board of Assessors member is out 
of town until June 23). 

 
3. Established a date that the 2021 property taxes will be due and payable, 

pursuant to MRSA Title 36, §505 (2).  Action: Set the due date as 
____________________________________________ Staff Recommendation: 
Friday July 9, 2021 (Typically 10 days to 2 weeks after commitment date). 
 

4. Established a date for interest to begin accruing on any delinquent 2021 
property taxes, pursuant to MRSA Title 36, §505 (4).  Action: Set the date for 
interest to begin as ___________________________ Staff Recommendation: 
Friday October 1, 2021 (Typically October 1, 2021. Note: last day to pay before 
interest begins would be Thursday September 30, 2021.) 

 
5. Established a rate of interest to be charged on delinquent 2021 property taxes, 

pursuant to MRSA Title 36, §505(4).  Action: Set the rate of interest on 
delinquent taxes at ____________________________% Staff 
Recommendation: 6%  (Typically set at the state maximum). 

 
6. Established a rate of interest for the overpayment and or abatement of 

property taxes for 2021, pursuant to MRSA Title 36 § 506-A.  Action: Set the 
rate of interest on overpayment and or abatement of property taxes at 
____________% Staff Recommendation: 0%  (Typically 0%)  
 

 
 

CITY OF CARIBOU, MAINE              Phone:   (207) 493-3324 X 3 
                 Fax:   (207) 498-3954 

 

   Office of Tax Assessment & Code Enforcement Municipal Building 
25 High Street 

Caribou, Me 04736 

67



7. In speaking with the software provider – Trio – it is recommended that 
municipal offices close early on the last business day of the year to allow ample 
time to finish all year-end process while the Trio support line is available. Staff 
Recommendation: Close the city office at 1:00 pm on Thursday December 30, 
2021 so staff can complete year end. NOTE: For the next three years, the last 
business day of the year will NOT be December 31 because of the New Year’s 
Day holiday. By deciding now to close the office early, staff can print this on 
the tax bills and alert taxpayers to the early closure.  

 
8. The changes to the revenue lines would be as follows: 

Line Number Description Original Budget Amended Budget (.02355) 

R10-01-32 Property Taxes $ 3,799,448.00 $   3,904,733.66 

R10-01-34 Overlay $    0 $      203,815.15 

R11-01-01 Economic Development (TIF) $    324,042.23 $      337,144.06 

R22-01-04 Homestead Exemption $    684,600.00 $      850,988.67 

R22-01-05 BETE Reimbursement $    155,000.00 $      180,527.42 

 

The enhanced BETE tax rate calculator is on the following page. 

68



 

 

 

 

 

Resolution 06-01-2021 

A Resolution of the Caribou City Council  

Establishing the 2021 Tax Mil Rate and Collection Items 

 
WHEREAS, The City is authorized under Maine State law to levy and collect taxes as needed to cover 
adopted city budgets expenses, and 
 
WHEREAS, The levying of taxes must be uniformly applied based on the taxable value of real estate and 
personal property, and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Assessor has completed calculation of 2021 taxable real estate and personal property 
values in accordance with State of Maine Assessing laws and practices, and  
 
WHEREAS, The Caribou City Charter now requires the Council to set a tax mil rate prior to July 1, and  
 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY, THE CARIBOU CITY COUNCIL that  
1) the 2021 tax mil rate shall be .02355 (the same rate as 2020) 
2) the date of commitment for the 2021 property taxes to be committed to the Tax Collector as pursuant 

to MRSA Title 36, §505 (1) shall be June 25, 2021. 
3) Property taxes shall be due and payable, on July 9, 2021, pursuant to MRSA Title 36, §505 (2).   
4) Interest shall begin accruing on any delinquent 2021 property taxes on October 1, 2021, pursuant to 

MRSA title 36, §505 (4).   
5) The rate of interest to be charged on delinquent 2021 property taxes, pursuant to MRSA Title 36, §505 

(4) shall be six percent (6.0%).   
6) The rate of interest to be applied for the overpayment and or abatement of property taxes for 2021, 

pursuant to MRSA Title 36, §505A shall be zero percent (0.0%).   
7) The revenue budget shall be amended as follow: 

 

Line Number Description Original Budget Amended Budget (.02355 

R10-01-32 Property Taxes $ 3,799,448.00 $   3,904,733.66 

R10-01-34 Overlay $    0 $      203,815.15 

R11-01-01 Economic Development (TIF) $    324,042.23 $      337,144.06 

R22-01-04 Homestead Exemption $    684,600.00 $      850,988.67 

R22-01-05 BETE Reimbursement $    155,000.00 $      180,527.42 
 

This resolution was duly passed and approved by a majority of the City Council of the City of Caribou this 

____th day of June 2021.  

 

________________________________  __________________________________ 

Jody R. Smith, Mayor    Attest: Danielle Brissette, City Clerk  

[City Seal]    

69



 

 

 

 

 

Resolution 06-02-2021 

A Resolution of the Caribou City Council  

Authorizing Participation in the MMA Safety Incentive Program 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Caribou is a member of the Maine Municipal Association Worker’s Compensation 
Fund (hereinafter “WC Fund”); and 
  
WHEREAS, Maine Municipal Association (hereinafter “MMA”) provides risk management services and 
workers’ compensation coverage; and 
  
WHEREAS, MMA developed the Workers’ Compensation Safety Incentive Program (hereinafter “the 
Program”) to help reduce the incidents and impact of workplace injuries by implementing WC claim best 
practices; and 
  
WHEREAS, MMA will provide necessary written program information, and offer assistance to 
participants; and 
  
WHEREAS, WC Fund members that participate in the Program and complete the required activities, will 
have the opportunity to earn a credit to the annual contribution; and 
  
WHERAS, the City of Caribou is committed to providing a safe environment for its employees, citizens, 
and visiting public; and 
 
WHERAS, the Program will help enhance such an environment and promote a self-sustaining culture of 
safety with participating members, 
  
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED BY, THE CARIBOU CITY COUNCIL, to elect to 
participate in the MMA Workers’ Compensation Safety Incentive Program.  
 
This resolution was duly passed and approved by a majority of the City Council of the City of Caribou this 

14th day of June 2021. 

 

 

________________________________  __________________________________ 

Jody Smith, Mayor    Attest: Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 

 

 

[City Seal]    

70



PURCHASE AND SALE AGREEMENT  
 
 
 

THIS AGREEMENT by and between City of Caribou a body corporate and politic with a  

mailing address of 25 High Street, Caribou, ME 04736 (herein “Seller”) and Caldwell’s Auto,  

LLC a Maine limited liability company with a mailing address of P.O. Box 361, Limestone, ME  

04750 (herein  “Buyer”).  
 

WITNESSETH THAT:  
 

1.   

 

Seller agrees to sell and Buyer agrees to buy, the following real estate:  

A certain parcel of land and buildings designated as Map 25, Lot 149-AA of the  

Caribou Tax Maps.  
 

Also included are the following items of personal property without additional  

consideration: all contents except for tools and equipment retained by the City per 
the attached Addendum 1.  

 

2.   

 

The purchase price is Ten Thousand Dollars  ($10,000.00).  The amount due  

hereunder shall be paid as follows: (a) the sum of $1,000 has been paid to the City and will be  

applied to the purchase price; (b) the remaining balance in the amount of $9,000 shall be paid at  

the closing specified herein by the Buyer by certified check, cashier's check, bank money order or  

wire transfer.  
 

3.    

 

The  real  estate  shall  be conveyed by Municipal Quitclaim Deed Without  

Covenants of title.   The conveyance will be made be subject to all easements, covenants,  

conditions and rights of record at the Registry of Deeds including, but not limited to, easements  

and agreements in favor of Maine Public Service Company, Algonquin Power and Versant  

Power.  
 

Buyer shall notify Seller on or before Closing of any defects in title existing of record  

that would make Seller unable to give merchantable title to the Property as set forth herein.  If  

Buyer fails to give such notice, Buyer shall be conclusively deemed to have accepted title subject  

to any existing title defects or encumbrances.  Upon receipt of any written objection to Seller’s  

title, Seller shall, at Seller’s option, cure the defect within 30 days of receipt of said notice.  If  

such defects are not cured within 30 days, then the Buyer may at Buyer’s option: ( a) terminate  

this Agreement in which case the deposit, if any, will be refunded, all obligations of all parties  

shall cease and this Agreement shall be void without recourse to the parties; or (b) accept such  

title as Seller can deliver and to pay the purchase price without deduction.  
 

4.   

 

Until  the delivery of the Deed from Seller to Buyer, risk of loss or damage to the real  

estate by fire or otherwise shall be on the Seller.  In  the event that the property shall become  

destroyed by fire or other Act of God, this Agreement shall be null and void.  
 

5.    

 

The  closing shall take place on or before June 30, 2021 at the law offices of Solman  

& Hunter, P.A., Caribou, ME or such other place as designated by the Buyer.  The premises  
 
 
-1-  

71



conveyed hereunder shall be delivered to Buyer at closing in the same condition as the date of  

this Agreement, reasonable wear and tear excepted and free of all occupants. Buyer shall have the  

right to conduct a walk through inspection prior to the closing to determine the condition of the  

premises.  At the time of closing Seller shall deliver the deed to Buyer and Buyer shall pay the  

consideration due to Seller.  
 

Buyer shall be entitled to possession of the premises at the time of closing,  but may enter  

prior to closing on 48 hours notice to Seller to conduct inspections and tests as provided herein.  
 

6.  

 

Buyer shall have twenty-one (21) days from the date of this Agreement to perform  

any studies, inspections, evaluations or assessments it deems necessary on the Property, including  

land surveys, to determine its suitability for Buyer’s purposes.   If Buyer determines in Buyer’s  

sole discretion that this transaction does not conform to Buyer’s objectives, Buyer may upon  

written notice received by Seller before the expiration of the 21 day due diligence period,  

terminate this Agreement, in which case, the deposit, if any, will be returned to Buyer.  In the  

event Buyer shall fail to timely notify Seller, Buyer shall be deemed conclusively to have elected  

to waive its right to terminate this Agreement pursuant to this Paragraph 6.  Buyer shall obtain all  

necessary governmental approvals for such testing, if any, and repair any damage caused to the  

Property by Buyer's inspections, testing or sampling. Buyer assumes of all risk of injury on the  

Property during any inspection.   All inspections will be done by inspectors chosen and paid for  

by the Buyer.  
 

The City of Caribou agrees to hire an environmental contractor to prepare a Phase 1 and  

Phase 11 action plan for the Property.  
 

 In the absence of the inspections listed above, the Buyer is relying completely upon Buyer’s  

own opinion as to the condition of the Property.  
 

7.  

 

Real estate taxes shall not be prorated at closing as the Property is tax exempt.  
 

8.   

 

 If the Buyer fails to perform hereunder, and the Seller is ready, willing and able to  

perform, Seller may exercise any remedy available under Maine law, legal or equitable, including  

the right to seek specific performance or retain the deposit as Seller’s exclusive remedy.  
 

9.  

 

 If Seller fails to perform hereunder, and the Buyer is ready, willing and able to  

perform,  Buyer may exercise any remedy available under Maine law, legal or equitable,  

including the right to seek specific performance.  
 

10.  

 

It is expressly understood  and agreed that time is of the essence in respect to this  

Agreement, and that this Agreement shall inure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties  

hereto and their respective heirs and assigns.  
 

       11.  

 

Buyer acknowledges that Buyer has not been influenced to enter into this transaction  

nor has Buyer relied upon any warranties or representations not set forth in this Agreement.  It is  

specifically understood that this property is being sold “as is” without warranties of any  

kind.  
 
 

-2-  

72



       12.  This Agreement may not be modified, waived or amended except in a writing signed  

by all parties hereto.  The parties acknowledge that this Agreement contains the entire Agreement  

of the parties.  
 

13.  

 

The net proceeds payable to Seller as a result of this sale shall be disbursed to Seller  

upon the recording of the deed to Buyer.  
 

14.  

 

Seller will be responsible for the cost of the Purchase and Sale Agreement,  

Municipal Quitclaim Deed, transfer tax declaration and Seller’s legal fees.  
 

Buyer will be responsible for one half of the Maine Transfer Tax,  title examination  

fees, title insurance, all costs associated with Buyer’s financing, if any, and Buyer’s legal fees.  
 

15.  

 

This Contract completely expresses the obligations of the parties, and this Contract is  

entered into by each party after opportunity for investigation, no party relying on any statements  

or representations not contained or referred to in this Contract made by any other party or on any  

other party’s behalf.  Time is of the essence in regard to the  time limits expressed in this  

agreement.  
 

16.      To enable Seller to make conveyance as herein provided, Seller may at the time of the  

delivery of the deed, use the purchase money or any portion thereof to clear the title of any or all  

encumbrances or interests.  All funds necessary to satisfy all encumbrances shall be collected  

from Seller at closing by the closing attorney.  All instruments discharging or releasing any liens  

may be recorded after the closing.  
 

17.  Seller and Buyer each warrant to the other that no brokers have been employed with  

respect to this transaction and each agrees to indemnify and hold the other harmless from any  

claim by any broker claiming compensation in respect of this transaction, alleging an agreement  

with Seller or Buyer as the case may be.  
 

18.  This is a cash offer not contingent upon financing.  
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the SELLER and BUYER hereunto set their hands and seal  

this ______ day of _____________ 2021. 
 

City of Caribou - Seller  
 

______________________________  

 

By:___________________________  

WITNESS  Dennis Marker, City Manager  
 

Caldwell’s Auto, LLC - Buyer  
 

______________________________  

 

By:_______________________________  

WITNESS             Robbie Caldwell, Member  
 
 
 
 

-3-  
  73



Addendum 1: Tools and Equipment to be retained by City of Caribou 

 

 

 

One 24”x36”Map cabinet 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Two 4’ filing 

cabinets in Steam 

plant office 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 1 of 7 74



Lifting strapsSpinning bolt bin

Various cables

Page 2 of 7 75



Sand blasterEntire cabinet with tap and die 
and drill bits

Paper Towel Holder

Page 3 of 7 76



Bench Vice Gear Puller

Bench Vice Anvil

Page 4 of 7 77



   

Misc. pipe threading equipment 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Torque Multiplier 

 

 

 

Misc. shop sockets 

 

 

 

Page 5 of 7 78



 

 

 

 

Rigid power pipe threading     ½ in and 3/4in beam type torque wrench 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Three 55 gal drums of 

antifreeze 

 

 

Page 6 of 7 79



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Spool of 9-strand 16 gauge wire 

 

Additionally 
 
(2) external hard drives 
(1) metal trash can lid 
(4) 3-4” repair clamps 
(1) stapler 
(1) vibration indicator 
(2) pairs work gloves 
(4) welding clamps 
(1) ball peen hammer 
(4) Caribou Waterworks project files 
(4) 6” grip rings 
(5) 4” grip rings 
(8) mechanical joint fittings 
(1) wash brush 
(1) survey rod 
(1) hand truck 
(1) shop light 
(4) boxes of absorbent pads 
 

Page 7 of 7 80



1 
 

CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  

CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  

FROM:  Dennis Marker, City Manager  

RE:   Modified Council Meeting Schedule for 2021 

DATE:  June 11, 20, 2021 

 

 

It is proposed that the 2021 regular meeting schedule be modified as indicated below:  

(Stricken dates are removed)  

 

January 11 Monday Regular Meeting 

January 25 Monday  Regular Meeting  

February 8 Monday Regular Meeting 

February 22 Monday  Regular Meeting  

March 8  Monday  Regular Meeting 

March 22  Monday  Regular Meeting 

April 5  Monday Regular Meeting 

April 19  Monday  Regular Meeting 

May 3  Monday Regular Meeting 

May 17  Tuesday Regular Meeting 

June 14  Monday Regular Meeting 

June 28  Monday  Regular Meeting 

July 12  Monday Regular Meeting 

July 26  Monday  Regular Meeting 

August 9  Monday Regular Meeting 

August 23  Monday  Regular Meeting 

September 7  Tuesday Regular Meeting 

September 20  Monday  Regular Meeting 

October 4 Monday Regular Meeting 

October 18  Monday Regular Meeting 

November 1  Monday Regular Meeting  

November 15  Monday  Regular Meeting 

November 29 Monday Regular Meeting 

December 13  Monday  Regular Meeting 

 

All meetings will be held in the Council Chambers at 25 High Street unless otherwise noticed. 

The proposed meeting time is 6pm. 

 

Suggested Motion:  

Move to accept the proposed Council meeting schedule changes for 2021 

 

81



1 
 

CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  

25 HIGH STREET  

CARIBOU, ME. 04736  

MEMO  
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  

FROM:  Dennis Marker, City Manager  

RE:   11 Lower Washington Tax Abatement 

DATE:  June 11, 20, 2021 

 

 

The property at 11 Lower Washington was awarded to a bidder for $3,000 as part of the city’s 

annual tax acquired properties bid process. The property was on the bid list for five years before 

a willing buyer picked it up. Outstanding taxes and fees on the property were $8,835.81 as of 

June 8, 2021. When the City Council accepted the bid of $3,000 for the city’s interest in the 

property, an uncollectable balance of $5,835.81 was created. It is proposed that the Council 

authorize the use of budgeted abatement funds to abate the remaining account balance for the 

property at 11 Lower Washington. 

 

Suggested Motion:  

Move to abate the remaining taxes and fees associated with 11 Lower Washington upon receipt 

of the awarded $3,000 bid for the property.  

 

82



83



Ordinance Introduced by Councilor ______________________ 
on ________________, 2021 

 
Ordinance No. 13, 2021 Series 

City of Caribou 
County of Aroostook 

State of Maine 
 
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CITY CHARTER BY CLARIFYING THE 
PROCESS FOR FILLING A VACANCY ON THE CITY COUNCIL  
Short Title: Filling a Vacancy on the Council 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Caribou is a Local Unit of Government under the State of Maine and is 
granted home rule authority under Maine Revised Statutes, Title 30-A, §3001; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City’s Charter outlines the city’s form of government and means by which a 
City Councilor is eligible to hold, retain or forfeit their elected position; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council believes it is prudent to modify the process by which a vacancy 
on the City Council is filled; and 
  
WHEREAS, any ordinance seeking to amend the charter must be approved by a vote of the 
citizens at the next general election. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Caribou, County of Aroostook, State of 
Maine, pursuant to the requirements of the City of Caribou Charter, Section 2.11, and Maine 
Revised Statutes, Title 30-A, §2104, presents for consideration of the voters, the following 
changes to the Charter.  
 
Section I. Amendments to Filling a Vacancy on the City Council 

 
Caribou City Charter Section 2.06 Vacancies; Forfeiture of Office; filling of Vacancies 
paragraph (d) is amended as follows: (underlined text is added, stricken text is deleted) 

 
(d) Filling of Vacancies. A vacancy in any elected office shall be filled for the remainder of the 
unexpired term, if any, at the next regular or special municipal election or referendum held not less 
than 60 days from the occurrence of the vacancy, but the Council, by a majority vote of its members, 
shall appoint a qualified person within 30 60 days of a vacancy to fill the vacancy until the person 
elected to serve the remainder of the unexpired term takes office. Prior to selecting a person to fill 
a vacancy, the Council shall provide a 14-day public notice of the vacancy and invitation for eligible 
persons to submit a letter of interest and resume to the Council for consideration. The Council shall 
be limited to select from only those persons who submit letters of interest. This provision shall also 
apply to the position of Mayor , Council Chairperson, (or) Deputy Mayor, however the person filling 
a Mayor or Deputy Mayor vacancy shall not assume such roles unless so elected by the Council in 
accordance with Section 2.03.  

 
Section II.  Severability 
If any part of this ordinance or the application thereof to any person or circumstances shall, for 
any reason, be adjudged by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unconstitutional or invalid, such 
judgment shall not affect, impair of invalidate the remainder of this ordinance or the application 
thereof to other persons and circumstances, but shall be confined to its operation to the section, 

84



subdivision, sentence or part of the section and the persons and circumstances directly involved in 
the controversy in which such judgment shall have been rendered.  It is hereby declared to be the 
intent of the City Council that this section would have been adopted if such invalid section, 
provisions, subdivision, sentence or part of a section or application had not been included. 
 
Section III. Posting and Effective Date 

This ordinance, being introduced on _________________, 2021 and a public hearing being held 
on _____________________, 2021 was duly passed by the City Council of the City of Caribou, 
Maine, this _____day of __________________ 2021. This ordinance shall become effective 24 
hours after affirming vote of the citizens during the November 2021 election.  

 
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Jody Smith, Mayor    Thomas Ayer, Deputy Mayor  
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Courtney Boma, Councilor   R. Mark Goughan, Councilor 
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Doug Morrell, Councilor    Joan Theriault, Councilor  
 
______________________________   
Louella Willey, Councilor  
        Attest: 
 

______________________________ 
Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 

 
 
 
 

85



Ordinance Introduced by Councilor ______________________ 
on ________________, 2021 

 
Ordinance No. 14, 2021 Series 

City of Caribou 
County of Aroostook 

State of Maine 
 
AN ORDINANCE TO AMEND THE CITY CHARTER BY CLARIFYING 
LIMITATIONS ON CITY EMPLOYEE POLITICAL ACTIVITIES 
Short Title: Employee Political Activities 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Caribou is a Local Unit of Government under the State of Maine and is 
granted home rule authority under Maine Revised Statutes, Title 30-A, §3001; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City’s Charter outlines general duties and responsibilities of elected and 
appointed officials of the City, including employees; and  
 
WHEREAS, the first amendment of the United States Constitution provides that there shall be 
no laws abridging the freedom of speech; and 
 
WHEREAS, in light of the first amendment of the United States Constitution, the City Council 
believes it is prudent to clarify those actions which may be considered related to freedom of 
speech and which city employees are prohibited from conducting; and 
  
WHEREAS, any ordinance seeking to amend the charter must be approved by a vote of the 
citizens at the next general election. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, the City Council of the City of Caribou, County of Aroostook, State of 
Maine, pursuant to the requirements of the City of Caribou Charter, Section 2.11, and Maine 
Revised Statutes, Title 30-A, §2104, presents for consideration of the voters, the following 
changes to the Charter.  
 
Section I. Amendments to Prohibited Employee Activities 

 
Caribou City Charter Section 9.02 Prohibitions paragraph (a)(5) is amended as follows: 
(underlined text is added, stricken text is deleted) 

 
(5) No city employee shall knowingly or willfully use city materials, equipment, or other city 
resources to make, solicit or receive any contribution to the campaign funds of any political party 
or committee to be used in a city election or to campaign funds to be used in support of or 
opposition to any candidate for election to city office or city ballot issued. Further, no city 
employee shall knowingly or willfully participate in any aspect of any political campaign on behalf 
of or opposition to any candidate for city public office during their assigned work hours. This 
section shall not be construed to prevent an employee from performing their regular duties under 
state FOAA guidelines, nor limit any person’s right to exercise rights as a citizen to express 
opinions or to cast a vote nor shall it be construed to prohibit any person from active participation 
in political campaigns at any other level of governmentoutside of work hours. 

 
  

86



Section II.  Severability 
If any part of this ordinance or the application thereof to any person or circumstances shall, for 
any reason, be adjudged by a court of competent jurisdiction to be unconstitutional or invalid, such 
judgment shall not affect, impair of invalidate the remainder of this ordinance or the application 
thereof to other persons and circumstances, but shall be confined to its operation to the section, 
subdivision, sentence or part of the section and the persons and circumstances directly involved in 
the controversy in which such judgment shall have been rendered.  It is hereby declared to be the 
intent of the City Council that this section would have been adopted if such invalid section, 
provisions, subdivision, sentence or part of a section or application had not been included. 
 
Section III. Posting and Effective Date 

This ordinance, being introduced on _________________, 2021 and a public hearing being held 
on _____________________, 2021 was duly passed by the City Council of the City of Caribou, 
Maine, this _____day of __________________ 2021. This ordinance shall become effective 24 
hours after affirming vote of the citizens during the November 2021 election.  

 
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Jody Smith, Mayor    Thomas Ayer, Deputy Mayor  
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Courtney Boma, Councilor   R. Mark Goughan, Councilor 
 
______________________________  ______________________________ 
Doug Morrell, Councilor    Joan Theriault, Councilor  
 
______________________________   
Louella Willey, Councilor  
        Attest: 
 

______________________________ 
Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 

 
 
 
 

87



Caribou Public Library 
DIRECTOR’S REPORT 

 
To:   Mayor and City Councilors  
  Dennis Marker, City Manager 
From: Hope Shafer, Library Director 
May 2021 Report 
 
 Wow, May sure flew by in a rush! A little sunshine and everyone heads 
outside to enjoy the sun while cleaning up their gardens. The outside chores begin 
in earnest. May was the perfect month for taking your book outside to sit in the sun 
and read. Definitely a month of rejuvination!   
 We are gearing up for our Summer Reading Programs. We have been 
planning, designing, and implementing our ideas, building a cohesive program for 
our littles, teens, and adults.   We are excited to unleash it on our patrons in two 
weeks! Our program will run of June 14th to July 23rd for children and June 14th to 
August 20th for our adults and teens. 
 While we were planning we have also been celebrating! We had two 
adorable littles graduate our 1,000 Books Before Kindergarten Program! How 
exciting is that?!?! Miss Erin hosted a gratuation patry complete with Spiderman 
cupcakes!   
 

             



 We are ECSTATIC that our Used Book Sale brought in over $200! That is 
double what we have made in previous sales! We are so thankful for all the 
AMAZING donations our patrons have given us!   
 Our awesome patrons have also donated a TON of books that are in like-new 
condition. We are so excited to receive these as they will be used to replace our 
well-worn editions and prolong their life. That means a renewal of our collection 
without spending a dime of our budget!   
 We have continued with out regular programs: Dungeons & Dragons, Great 
Decisions Discussion Group, and our Middle/High School Book Club. We are 
excited to begin adding more in-person programming. 
 Our calendar for next month is filling up! In collaboration with Cary 
Medical Center and Age Friendly Caribou we are once again hosting Tech Talks at 
the library. We have THREE dates in June where seniors can make an appointment 
to meet one-on-one with a “Tech Buddy” to learn how to use any number of 
devices from laptops to cell phones to Kindles. It is such a terrific program!   
 We are ready to host our Perennial Sale on Saturday, June 5th from 10am-
2pm. It is one event our community REALLY gets excited about! The donations 
are coming in and people keep calling to confirm the date and time!   
 During the month of June the library will be the recipients of the Hannaford 
Community Bag Program. YAY! Every time someone purchases a $2.50 
Community Bag at Hannaford, $1.00 is donated to the library! We have been 
spreading the word far and wide! It is an easy way to donate to the library while 
getting something useful.   
 I am sure there are a GAZILLION more things I should tell you about but I 
am running out of room! LOL! Watch our Facebook page, our website, the City’s 
cabel access channel, or stop in to the library to check out our Wall Of Wonders 
and see what all we are up to this month!   
 
As always, Happy Reading! 
~Hope



CIRCULATION STATISTICAL COMPARISON 

MATERIAL TYPE 
MAY JUN JUL AUG SEPT OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR MAY 

2020 2020 2020 2020 2020 2020 2020 2020 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 

Adult books 53 329 659 918 916 867 917 1,020 1,203 935 1,123 432 462 

Juvenile books 56 470 632 818 690 895 681 992 1,007 846 1,208 458 421 

Teen/YA books 10 72 154 132 97 142 137 86 159 150 154 62 45 

DVDs 15 85 255 463 310 488 389 310 355 466 507 186 175 

eBooks/Audiobooks 136 122 169 129 138 196 273 261 270 406 404 355 261 

Magazines 8 12 147 149 122 101 70 160 139 175 168 36 15 

Interlibrary loans 3 22 18 79 83 70 69 97 79 90 101 51 28 

Puzzles           15 10 41 34 22 12 14 10 

Renewals 0 1 6 639 634 504 517 558 604 620 757 676 530 

TOTAL NUMBERS 281 1,113 2,040 3,327 2,990 3,278 3,063 3,525 3,850 3,710 4,434 2,270 1,947 

 
 

**As of 2020 the Maine State Library is now requiring that public libraries track renewals as part of their statistics. ** 
 
 
 
 
 
 



YEAR-TO-DATE OVERALL MONTHLY STATISTICAL COMPARISON 

MATERIAL TYPE 
MAY JUN JUL AUG SEPT OCT NOV DEC JAN FEB MAR APR MAY 
2020 2020 2020 2020 2020 2020 2020 2020 2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 

Circulation 281 1,113 2,040 3,327 2,990 3,278 3,063 3,525 3,850 3,710 4,434 2,270 1,947 

Library Visitors 220 395 3,197 3,234 3,675 3,570 2,573 2,819 2,641 2,534 3,023 2,851 2,824 

Wi-Fi access 7,247 12,902 14,600 58,117 20,960 16,833 10,256 6,235 8,673 8,810 7,252 7,454 **See 
Note 

Books added 91 95 104 139 107 210 144 154 163 141 184 190 125 

Books withdrawn 21 24 3 62 33 9 6 282 15 16 48 49 20 

Program 
Participation 1,321 997 898 533 569 6,289 1,615 8,443 1,926 1,571 2,517 2,209   

New patrons 1 3 9 11 17 15 8 1 14 18 8 6 18 

Archives (# of users) 0 11 26 37 31 29 39 23 31 37 44 43 37 

              
**Beginning May 2021 we are no longer tracking hits on our wifi.          
We updated, adding 4 new access points for greater connectivity, but they are not compatible with our outdated software.    
Our IT tech is attempting to find a fix.            

 
Year JAN FEB MAR APR MAY JUN JUL AUG SEPT OCT NOV DEC TOTAL 

2017 1,429 1,647 2,165 1,671 1,782 2,053 2,086 2,225 1,995 2,335 2,284 2,094 23,766 

2018 1,789 1,755 2,396 2,758 2,192 2,501 2,629 3,166 2,727 2,894 2,587 2,104 29,498 

2019 2,924 2,026 2,728 2,663 2,116 1,979 2,519 2,297 2,129 2,099 1,603 1,770 26,853 

2020 2,404 2,415 1,710 289 281 1,113 2,040 3,327 2,990 3,278 3,063 3,525 26,435 

2021 3,850 3,710 4,434 2,270 1,947               16,211 

 



Monthly Permit Report

May 2021

CURRENT YEAR PRIOR YEAR PRIOR YEAR

MONTH TO DATE MONTH TO DATE

BUILDING PERMITS 11 28 4 15

HOMES 1 2 1 2

MOBILE HOMES 0 1 0 0

MULTI-FAMILY 0 0 0 0

COMMERCIAL 3 10 2 11

EXEMPT 0 1 0 0

PLUMBING PERMITS

INTERNAL 5 10 0 3

EXTERNAL 3 5 1 1

DEMO PERMITS 2 7 0 3

SIGN PERMITS 1 4 1 3

 
Year-to-Date is January 2021 to May 2021


































